Dissection of *EDS1*-dependent and salicylic acid-independent defence signalling pathways in *Arabidopsis thaliana*: a chemical biology approach

Inaugural-Dissertation

zur

Erlangung des Doktorgrades

der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität zu Köln

vorgelegt von

Shachi Joglekar

aus Mumbai

Köln 2015

Diese Arbeit wurde durchgeführt am Max-Planck-Institut für Pflanzenzüchtungsforschung in Köln in der Abteilung für Pflanze-Mikroben Interaktionen (Direktor: Prof. Dr. P. Schulze-Lefert), Arbeitsgruppe Dr. Erich Kombrink, angefertigt.





Plant Breeding Research

Berichterstatter:Prof. Dr. Jane E. Parker
Prof. Dr. Ulf-Ingo Flügge
Prof. Dr. Renier van Der HoornPrüfungsvorsitzender:Prof. Dr. Marcel BücherTag der Disputation:02.12.2014

Contents

Abbreviations	5
Summary	9
Zusammenfassung	11
1 Introduction	13
1.1 Initial response: MAMP-triggered immunity	13
1.2 Secondary response: Effector-triggered immunity	14
1.3 Global response: systemic acquired resistance	15
1.4 The EDS1/PAD4 regulatory node	16
1.5 Flavin-dependent mono-oxygenase 1	18
1.5.1 FMO1 in EDS1/PAD4 dependent defence	19
1.5.2 FMO1 in systemic acquired resistance	20
1.5.3 FMO1 and cell death	21
1.5.4 FMO1 function	22
1.6 Chemical biology and screening strategies	23
1.7 Aims of this thesis	25
2 Screening of natural and synthetic compound libraries uncovers several putative act	ivators27
2.1 Screen for inhibitors	
2.2 Screen for activators	31
2.2.1 Verification of activator chemicals	32
2.2.2 Confirmation of FMO1 induction in wild-type seedlings by qRT-PCR	34
2.3 Thaxtomin A is a potent FMO1 upregulator	37
2.3.1 Timeline and dose-dependence of thaxtomin A-induced FMO1	37
2.3.2 Thaxtomin A affects seedling growth, but not germination	39
2.3.3 Thaxtomin A does not trigger MAPK and ROS signalling	40
2.3.4 Analysis of perturbations in amino acid levels	42
2.3.5 Thaxtomin A leads to an increase in salicylic acid levels	44
2.3.6 Structure-activity relationship of thaxtomin A	44
2.3.7 Role of thaxtomin A in other signalling pathways	46
2.3.8 FMO1 expression due to thaxtomin A is dependent on EDS1 and PAD4	48
2.3.9 Thaxtomin A is a PAD4 transcription activator	49
2.4 Monensin sodium salt and merbromin increase FMO1 expression	53
2.4.1 EC ₅₀ determination	53
2.4.2 Monensin sodium salt and merbromin affect germination and growth in a concentration-dependent manner	54

2.4.3 Interaction between early defence signalling and FMO1 upregulation	56
2.4.4 Role of monensin sodium salt in other signalling pathways	58
2.4.5 Analysis of changes in amino acid concentration	59
2.4.6 Effect of monensin sodium salt and merbromin on defence gene expression	60
2.4.7 Monensin sodium salt, but not merbromin leads to an increase in salicylic acid	62
2.4.8 Role of monensin sodium salt and merbromin in other signalling pathways	63
3 Discussion	65
3.1 Primary screening and hit selection	65
3.2 Origin and activity of thaxtomin A: a potent FMO1 inducer	68
3.2.1 Structure-activity relationship of thaxtomin A bioactivity	70
3.2.2 Auxin inhibits thaxtomin A-induced FMO1	72
3.2.3 FMO1 expression in plants: at death's door?	73
3.2.4 Positioning thaxtomin A activity within the signalling network	74
3.3 Merbromin and monensin sodium salt induce FMO1 expression	76
3.4 Concluding Remarks	80
5 Materials & methods	83
5.1 Materials	83
5.1.1 Plant materials	83
5.1.2 Chemicals	84
5.1.3 Media	84
5.1.4 Buffers and solutions	84
5.2 Methods	85
5.2.1 Maintenance and cultivation of Arabidopsis plants	85
5.2.2 Chemical treatment of Arabidopsis plants	85
5.2.3 Confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM)	85
5.2.4 Biochemical methods	86
5.2.5 Molecular biological methods	87
5.2.6 Reporter assays	90
5.2.7 Chemical screen	90
5.2.8 Monitoring the oxidative burst	91
5.2.9 Probe synthesis	91
References	93
Acknowledgements	105
Erklärung	107
Supplementary data	111

Abbreviations

-	fused to (in the context of gene/protein fusion constructs)
°C	Degree Celsius
μ	Micro
μM	Micromolar
Aad	α-aminoadipic acid
ABA	Abscisic acid
Ala	alanine
ALD1	AGD2-like defense response protein1
At	Arabidopsis thaliana
Avr	avirulence
СС	Coiled-coil
cDNA	Complementary DNA
d	Day(s)
ddH2O	Demineralized, deionized water
Dex	Dexamethasone
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNase	Deoxyribonuclease
dNTP	Deoxynucleosidetriphosphate
DTT	Dithiothreitol
EDS1	Enhanced Disease Susceptibility1
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ETI	Effector-triggered immunity
EtOH	Ethanol
FW	Fresh weight
g	Gram
GUS	Glucuronidase
h /H	Hour(s)
Нра	Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis
HR	Hypersensitive response

HTS	High-throughput-screening
IAA	Indole-3-acetic acid
IC50	Half maximum inhibitory concentration
ICS1	Isochorismate Synthase1
JA	Jasmonic acid
kDa	kiloDalton(s)
/L	Litre
LOX	13-Lipoxygenase
LRR	Leucine-rich repeats
LUC	Luciferase
Lys	lysine
m	Milli
М	Molar(mol/L)
MAMP	Microbe-associated molecular patterns
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MeJA	Methyl jasmonate
min	Minute(s)
mM	millimolar
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MW	Molecular weight
n	Nano
NB	Nucleotide binding site
ng	Nanogram
NLR	NOD-like receptor
nM	nanomolar
NPR1	Nonexpresser of PR genes1
N-terminal	amino-terminal
p35S	35S promoter of CaMV
PAD4	Phytoalexin Defient4
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel-electrophoresis
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
L	1

pEDS1	Native EDS1 promoter
PEPC	Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase
рН	Negative decimal logarithm of H+ concentration
PR	Pathogenesis related
PRR	PAMP/ pattern recognition receptor
Pst	Pseudomonas syringae pv tomato
PTI	PAMP-triggered immunity
pv.	Pathovar
qRT-PCR	Quantitative real time polymerase chain reaction
R	Resistance
RB	Rose bengal
RFU	Relative fluorescence units
RLU	Relative light units
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
rpm	Revolutions per minute
RPM	Resistance to Pseudomonas syringae pv. maculicola
RPP	Resistance to Peronospora parasitica
RPS	Resistance to Pseudomonas syringae
RT	Room temperature
SA	Salicylic acid
SAG101	Senescence Associated Gene 101
SAR	Systemic acquired resistance
SAR	Structure-activity relationship
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
Sec/s	Second(s)
SID2	Salicylic Acid Induction Deficient2
TBS	Tris buffered saline
TBTA	Tris(1-benzyl-1H-1,2,3-triazol-4-yl)methyl]amine
TIR	Drosophila Toll and mammalian interleukin-1 receptor
Tris	Tris-(hydroxymethyl)-aminomethane
Trp	tryptophan

Tyr	tyrosine
UV	Ultraviolet
V	Volt(s)
v/v	Volume per volume
VSP	Vegetative storage protein
w/v	Weight per volume
wt	Wild-type
YFP	Yellow fluorescent protein

Summary

Plants have to survive in an environment where they are constantly under attack from a wide range of pathogens, and they utilise sophisticated, multi-layered defence mechanisms to resist infection. The Arabidopsis thaliana protein Enhanced disease susceptibility1 (EDS1), together with its signalling partners, Phytoalexin deficient4 (PAD4) and Senescence associated gene101 (SAG101), constitutes a central regulatory hub in plant immunity. EDS1 is essential for basal defence and for effector-triggered immune responses mediated via TIR-NB-LRR (Toll-Interleukin1 receptor-Nucleotide Binding site-Leucine Rich Repeat) receptors. EDS1-dependent signalling can be divided into two branches: a salicylic acid (SA)-dependent branch and a SAindependent branch. Flavin-dependent mono-oxygenase 1 (FMO1) is a marker gene for the EDS1dependent, SA-independent signalling pathway. FMO1 is dependent on EDS1 and PAD4, and plays a crucial role in basal defence and TIR-NB-LRR-mediated immune responses. However, the mechanistic details of FMO1 signalling and other components involved modulation of EDS1dependent, SA-independent defence signalling are unknown. I aimed at identifying some of these unknown components, using a chemical biology approach and screening for selective compounds that can be used as tools in applications complementing genetic approaches. The advantage of this method lies in its potential to circumvent problems generally encountered in genetic approaches, such as redundancy of gene function, lethality of mutants and pleiotropic effects.

I developed a bi-directional screening procedure for chemicals activating or inhibiting FMO1 accumulation, using a transgenic *A. thaliana* line expressing a YFP-tagged FMO1 protein under control of the native *FMO1* promoter in a *fmo1-1* mutant background. Three compounds selectively activating *FMO1* expression were identified after screening and verification, from amongst a library of 1488 compounds. The selected chemicals; merbromin, monensin sodium salt, and thaxtomin A, could induce expression of *FMO1*, independent of SA accumulation, thus confirming the SA-independent nature of *FMO1* defence regulation. All three chemicals were extensively tested for their role in modulation of plant immune responses. Merbromin leads to the upregulation of several defence genes known to be linked to *FMO1*, such as *EDS1*, *PAD4* and *Isochorismate synthase1* (*ICS1*). However, it does not induce accumulation of SA and expression of *Pathogenesis related1* (*PR1*), suggesting that it causes perturbations at several points in the *FMO1*-related signalling pathway. Monensin sodium salt also leads to an increase in expression of *EDS1*, *PAD4*, *ICS1* and *PR1*, along with SA accumulation. Monensin sodium salt activates mitogenactivated protein kinases (MAPKs), which could play a role in induction of *FMO1* expression.

Thaxtomin A was the most specific modulator of FMO1 signalling, and does not affect early defence responses such as MAPK activation and production of reactive oxygen species. It causes SA accumulation and enhances expression of *EDS1*, *PAD4*, *ICS1*, and *PR1*. Thaxtomin A-induced *FMO1* expression is dependent on *EDS1* and *PAD4*. I found thaxtomin A to be a specific activator of *PAD4* expression, with enhanced *PAD4* mRNA accumulation, independent of *EDS1*. There are also indications that *PAD4* may have an *EDS1*-independent role in thaxtomin A-induced *FMO1* upregulation. However, the presence of both, *EDS1* and *PAD4*, is essential for maximum upregulation of *FMO1* by thaxtomin A. Identification of the molecular target of thaxtomin A may lead to unknown components involved in *EDS1*-dependent, SA-independent signalling and greater mechanistic knowledge of the signalling pathway.

Zusammenfassung

Pflanzen leben in einer Umgebung in der sie ständigen Angriffen durch Unmengen von Pathogenen ausgesetzt sind. Dabei benutzen Pflanzen hochentwickelte, mehrschichtige Verteidigungsmechanismen um einer Infektion zu widerstehen. Das Protein "Enhanced disease susceptibility1" (EDS1) bildet zusammen mit seinen Interaktionspartnern "Phytoalexin deficient4" (PAD4) und "Senescence associated gene101" (SAG101) eine zentrale regulatorische Einheit in der Signalweitergabe des pflanzlichen Immunsystems von Arabidopsis thaliana. EDS1 ist sowohl unverzichtbar für basale Immunantworten, als auch für Effektor-induzierte Immunantworten, welche durch "Toll-interleukin1 receptor-nucleotide binding site-leucine rich repeat" (TIR-NB-LRR) Rezeptoren ermöglicht werden. EDS1-vermittelte Signalwege können dabei salicylsäure(SA)abhängig oder SA-unabhängig sein. Das Gen Flavin-dependent mono-oxygenase1 (FMO1) gilt als Repräsentant des EDS1-abhängigen, SA-unabhängigen Signalwegs. FMO1 benötigt EDS1 und PAD4 und spielt ebenfalls eine entscheidende Rolle für die basale Resistenz und während TIR-NB-LRR-vermittelter Immunantworten. Details der FMO1-übermittelten Signalwege, sowie andere Komponenten die einen Einfluss auf EDS1-abhängige, SA-unabhängige Immunsignalwege haben, sind bis jetzt noch nicht bekannt. Das Ziel meiner Arbeit war diese unbekannten zusätzlichen Komponenten zu identifizieren. Dafür wurde ein chemisch-biologischer Ansatz gewählt der auf einer Selektion chemischer Komponenten basiert, welche eine genetische Komplementation hervorrufen. Der Vorteil dieser Methode besteht in der Vermeidung von häufig auftretenden Problemen genetischer Selektionsansätze, z.B. Redundanz der Genfunktion, hohe Sterblichkeitsrate der Mutanten oder pleiotropische Effekte.

Ich habe ein bidirektionales Selektionsverfahren entwickelt, wodurch chemische Substanzen die eine Akkumulation von FMO1 anregen bzw. verhindern mit Hilfe einer transgenen *A. thaliana* Linie, welche ein YFP-markiertes FMO1 Protein unter seinem nativen Promoter im *fmo1-1* Mutantenhintergrund exprimiert, identifiziert werden konnten. Aus einer Sammlung von 1488 chemischen Substanzen konnten drei Chemikalien identifiziert und verifiziert werden, welche die Aktivierung der *FMO1* Expression hervorriefen. Alle drei Komponenten: Merbromin, Monensin-Natriumsalz und Thaxtomin A, induzierten die *FMO1* Expression unabhängig von einer SA Akkumulation, was ebenfalls eine SA-unabhängige Regulation von *FMO1* bestätigt. Daraufhin wurde der Effekt der drei Chemikalien auf pflanzliche Immunantworten untersucht. Merbromin führte zur Induktion von verschiedenen *FMO1* verbundenen Abwehrgenen, wie beispielsweise *EDS1*, *PAD4* und *"Isochorismate synthase1" (ICS1*). Jedoch führte es nicht zu einer Erhöhung des SA Gehalts oder der Genexpression von *"Pathogenesis related1" (PR1*), was darauf deutet, dass

es verschiedenen Stellen in FMO1-regulierten Signalwegen stören kann. Monensin-Natriumsalz bewirkte neben der Expressionsinduktion von *EDS1, PAD4, ICS1* und *PR1* auch eine Anreicherung von SA. Monensin-Natriumsalz aktiviert die Mitogen-aktivierten Proteinkinasen (MAPKs), welche eine Rolle in der Induktion der *FMO1* Expression spielen könnten.

Thaxtomin A wirkte am spezifischsten auf FMO1-vermittelte Signalwege und hatte keinen Einfluss auf frühe Immunantworten, wie beispielsweise die Aktivierung der MAPKs oder die Produktion von reaktiven Sauerstoffspezies. Es bewirkt die Anreicherung von SA und eine erhöhte Expression von *EDS1*, *PAD4*, *ICS1* und *PR1*. Die von Thaxtomin A-induzierte *FMO1* Expression ist abhängig von *EDS1* und *PAD4*. Dabei habe ich ermittelt, dass Thaxtomin A auch ein spezifischer Aktivator der *PAD4* Expression ist, wodurch es zur erhöhten Anreicherung von *PAD4* mRNA unabhängig von *EDS1* kommt. Weitere Hinweise deuten auf eine EDS1-unabhängige Funktion von PAD4 während der Thaxtomin A-induzierten *FMO1* Expression. Eine maximale Induktion der *FMO1* Expression durch Thaxtomin A ist jedoch nur möglich, wenn sowohl EDS1 als auch PAD4 vorhanden sind. Die Identifikation des molekularen Angriffsziels von Thaxtomin A könnte die bis jetzt unbekannten Komponenten des EDS1-abhängigen, SA-unabhängigen Signalweges aufzeigen und unser Verständnis über Prozesse dieser Signalweiterleitung erweitern.

1 Introduction

Plants have to survive in an environment where they are constantly under attack from a wide range of pathogens. They utilise a sophisticated, multi-layered defence strategy comprising preformed and inducible defence mechanisms to combat pathogens (Jones and Dangl, 2006; Spoel and Dong, 2012). Preformed anti-microbial compounds, and surface structures such as waxy cuticles, act as the primary barrier for the entry and colonisation by non-specialised pathogens. The primary mechanism of inducible defence involves recognition of certain microbe associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) to trigger a basal resistance response known as pattern-triggered immunity (PTI). The second layer of defence is a result of plant-pathogen co-evolution, wherein pathogen-secreted effector molecules are recognised in the plant, leading to a stronger defence response known as effector triggered immunity (ETI). Systemic acquired resistance is an event when local infection by a pathogen immunises the whole plant against subsequent infections (Shah and Zeier, 2013)

1.1 Initial response: MAMP-triggered immunity

Microbial organisms express highly conserved molecular signatures, generally termed as microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs). Chitin and ergosterol from fungi, and flagellin and lipopolysaccharides from bacteria are some of the MAMPs that act as general elicitors in plants (Zipfel et al., 2004). Plant cells have surface pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) which can perceive MAMPS. This MAMP-recognition triggers a number of defence responses such as reactive oxygen species (ROS) and nitrogen oxide (NO) production, altered cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ levels, callose deposition at the site of infection, induction of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs), and transcriptional activation of defence genes (Nürnberger and Lipka, 2005). These immune responses are together termed as MAMP-triggered immunity and help to arrest pathogen growth (Jones and Dangl, 2006).

Currently described plant PRRs belong to a family of receptor-like kinases (RLKs). The recognition of bacterial flagellin by FLS2 (FLAGELLIN SENSING 2), and of bacterial elongation factor Tu by EFR (EF-TU RECEPTOR), and the subsequent defence responses in plants, are two well characterised examples of MAMP-triggered immunity (Gómez-Gómez and Boller, 2002; Zipfel et al., 2006). Fungal oligosaccharide perception by the LysM-RLK CERK1 (CHITIN ELICITOR RECEPTOR KINASE 1) receptor has also been studied in detail (Miya et al., 2007).

Pathogens suppress MTI by injecting effector proteins into the plant cell. Effectors can disrupt MTI responses by various means, leading to successful colonisation by the pathogen. This includes disruption of defence signalling or alteration of MAMP perception by the plant. Such pathogens are termed virulent and the plant-microbe interaction is said to be compatible (Chisholm et al., 2006). The resistance activated by virulent pathogens on susceptible hosts is defined as basal disease resistance (Jones and Dangl, 2006).

1.2 Secondary response: Effector-triggered immunity

Plants, unlike mammals, do not possess an adaptive immune system, with highly specific circulating antibodies for pathogen recognition (Stuart et al., 2013). Instead, diverse pathogen virulence factors, called effectors, are recognised in plants using genetically encoded receptor proteins (Dangl et al., 2013). A 'gene for gene' model for ETI in plants was first proposed in the 1940s, and was based on the inherent complementary resistance (R) gene pairs in the host plant and the pathogen avirulence (Avr) genes, determining disease resistance (Flor, 1971). R proteins comprise a central nucleotide binding (NB) and a C-terminal leucine-rich repeat (LRR) domain. Depending on their Nterminal domain, R proteins can be separated into two subclasses (Meyers et al., 2003). One subclass of NB-LRRs contains a N-terminal coiled-coil (CC) domain, whereas the Nterminal of the other subclass resembles the Drosophila and mammalian toll-interleukin1 receptor (TIR) (Maekawa et al., 2011). These TIR/CC- NB-LRR receptors can perceive effector molecules secreted by pathogens, thus leading to an immune response, known as R gene-mediated resistance or effector-triggered immunity (ETI). Activation of the NB-LRR proteins triggers transcriptional reprogramming of pathogen-responsive genes and accumulation of salicylic acid (SA) and ROS within the cell. A hypersensitive response (HR) associated with the programmed cell death (PCD) of infected cells, is a characteristic of ETI.

R proteins can recognize effectors molecules either through direct physical interaction, or indirectly, through host target-perturbation by effectors. Direct effector-R gene interaction is compatible with the gene-for-gene hypothesis (Flor, 1971), but is rare, since plant pathogen effectors far outnumber the more than 150 NB-LRR proteins found in *A. thaliana*. One model of indirect effector recognition involves modification of a host factor that is bound to and monitored (or guarded) by a NLR, leading to activation of that NLR (Deslandes and Rivas, 2012). Another indirect method of effector recognition is based on a 'decoy' strategy, wherein the monitored host protein has no role in resistance, but is merely a bait to trap effectors which target structurally related components of basal defence, thus triggering ETI (van der Hoorn and Kamoun, 2008; Collier and Moffett, 2009).

Since both, MTI and ETI, utilise a highly overlapping signalling network, ETI can be termed as a rapid and heightened MTI response (Tsuda et al., 2009). Immune responses evoked by MTI and ETI in infected plants are similar, such as accumulation of free SA and enhanced expression of pathogenesis-related (PR) genes (Glazebrook, 2005; Vlot et al., 2009), but the differences in the timing and amplitude of these responses is what distinguishes ETI from MTI (Katagiri and Tsuda, 2010).

1.3 Global response: systemic acquired resistance

Furthermore, alongside local defence responses, MTI and ETI also induce defence in the systemic (uninfected) regions of the plant, including *PR* gene expression, SA accumulation and a long-lasting, broad-spectrum resistance to pathogen infection, termed systemic acquired resistance (SAR) (Ryals et al., 1996; Durrant and Dong, 2004; Shah, 2009; Vlot et al., 2009). SAR leads to 'priming' of systemic tissue to evoke faster and stronger defence responses against subsequent infections (Conrath, 2011), analogous to vaccination in humans. Long-distance communication between the primary pathogen infected tissue, and the uninfected systemic tissue, is crucial for SAR activation (Dempsey & Klessig, 2012). Several small molecule plant metabolites, such as methyl salicylate (MeSA), SA, pipecolic acid (Pip), azelaic acid (Aza), dehydroabietinal (DA) and glycerol-3phosphate, have been proposed to function in long-distance transport and/or signal amplification during SAR (Shah and Zeier, 2013).

1.4 The EDS1/PAD4 regulatory node

The enhanced disease susceptibility1 protein (EDS1) is a central regulatory hub in plant immunity. It was first identified in a genetic screen for new factors involved in the RPP resistance to P. parasitica (RPP) gene-mediated resistance against the obligate biotrophic oomycete, Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis (Hpa) (Parker et al., 1996). EDS1 was found to play an essential role in TIR-NB-LRR mediated immunity, and also contribute to basal immunity (Parker et al., 1996; Aarts et al., 1998). Resistant to pseudomonas syringae 4 (RPS4) triggers a TIR-NB-LRR mediated resistance upon recognition of the bacterial effector AvrRPS4 (Hinsch and Staskawicz, 1996). This signalling pathway has been extensively studied and was shown to be EDS1-dependent (Wirthmueller et al., 2007). EDS1 activity was determined to be downstream of TIR-NB-LRR activation, but upstream of defence gene activation, cell death induction and SA production (Feys, et al., 2001; Wirthmueller et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2003). In contrast to TIR-NB-LRR mediated resistance, the CC-NB-LRR protein resistance to Pseudomonas syringae pv maculicola1 (RPM1) influences local programmed cell death, SA production and resistance independent of EDS1. However, the EDS1 pathway is still essential for the transduction of defence and death-promoting signals to cells surrounding the infection hub (Rustérucci et al., 2001; Wiermer et al., 2005).

EDS1 interacts directly with two sequence-related signalling partners, phytoalexin deficient 4 (PAD4) (Feys et al., 2001; Feys et al., 2005; Jirage et al., 1999) and senescence-associated gene 101 (SAG101) (Feys et al., 2005), to form heteromeric complexes (Wagner et al., 2013). *PAD4* was initially identified from a genetic screen for plants with enhanced susceptibility to *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *maculicola* ES4326 (Psm ES4326) (Glazebrook et al., 1996). Genetically, *PAD4* and *SAG101* are partially redundant. *PAD4* can compensate for the lack of *SAG101* and regulate basal and R gene-mediated immunity. However, *SAG101* cannot completely compensate for the loss of *PAD4*, thus hinting at a

16

unique role for *PAD4* in plant defence. Both *PAD4*, and *EDS1*, have important intrinsic signalling functions in immunity, since *pad4/sag101* double mutants do not have functional basal and TIR-NB-LRR-mediated resistance, similar to the *eds1* mutant (Feys et al., 2005). Interestingly, monocotyledonous plants lack TIR-NB-LRR proteins, but possess EDS1 and PAD4 orthologs, thus indicating an ancestral function of *EDS1* and *PAD4* in basal immunity (Meyers et al., 2003).

Activation of *EDS1* and *PAD* stimulates synthesis of the defence hormone SA via upregulation of *Isochorismate synthase1* (*ICS1*) (Zhou et al., 1998; Feys et al., 2001; Dempsey et al., 2011). SA plays a central role in resistance against biotrophic and hemibiotrophic pathogens (Vlot et al., 2009). Additionally, *EDS1* and *PAD4* expression can also be stimulated by SA, as a part of a positive feedback loop that amplifies resistance locally, and systemically (Jirage et al., 1999; Feys et al., 2001; Vlot et al., 2009). EDS1 and PAD4 are crucial for SAR due to their role in regulation of SA activity (Malamy et al., 1990; Métraux et al., 1990; Gruner et al., 2013).

EDS1, when bound in a complex with PAD4 or dissociated from it, performs different roles in pathogen resistance. EDS1-PAD4 complex formation is necessary for effective basal resistance (Rietz et al., 2011). In transgenic plants with a single amino acid exchange in *EDS1* (eds1^{L262P}), the mutated EDS1 cannot bind to PAD4, but retains interaction with SAG101. Infection by *P. syringae* DC3000 failed to induce SA accumulation and PR1 expression in the eds1^{L262P} mutants plants, and hence SAR in these plants was compromised. These mutants were found to have reduced resistance to virulent *H. arabidopsidis* isolates and *P. syringae* bacteria (Rietz et al., 2011). Conversely, EDS1 dissociated from PAD4 could activate TIR-NB-LRR-triggered cell death upon infection by *H. arabidopsidis*. Reports also suggest that SAG101 cannot compensate for PAD4-dependent induction of cell death (Rietz et al., 2011).

PAD4 is not only important for effective basal and R gene-mediated resitance, but is also essential for resistance to green peach aphid (*Myzus persicae*) (Pegadaraju et al., 2007). This PAD4 activity in plant defence against *M. persicae* was proven to be independent of EDS1 and pathogen-induced SA accumulation (Louis et al., 2012). Resistance to microbial pathogens was not compromised when a conserved serine in the predicted lipase catalytic triad of PAD4 was mutated. However, this mutation partially compromised resitance to *M. persicae*. Hence, PAD4 was demonstrated to have different molecular functions in defence responses against pathogens and *M. persicae* (Louis et al., 2012). A chemical biology study discovered interaction between PAD4 and a newly identified TIR-NB-LRR protein, VICTR, thus providing the first evidence of association between TIR-NB-LRR proteins and PAD4.

Thus, both EDS1 and PAD4 play crucial regulatory roles in plant defence signalling. There has been some evidence for an EDS1-independent role of PAD4 in resitance reactions. However, both EDS1 and PAD4 are necessary for a full resistance response to pathogens.

1.5 Flavin-dependent mono-oxygenase 1

Flavin-containing monooxygenases (FMOs) were first discovered in 1960s. Since then, mammalian FMOs have been extensively studied (Krueger and Williams, 2005). FMOs can catalyse oxygenation of nucleophilic, heteroatom-containing substrates (i.e. compounds containing nitrogen, sulphur, selenium or iodine), thus rendering them more polar and readily excreted (Cashman, 2002; Krueger and Williams, 2005). There are five functionally expressed *FMO* genes in humans, i.e., human *FMO1-FMO5*. (Lawton et al., 1994). *FMO*s have also been found in bacteria and yeast (Suh et al., 1996; Chen et al., 2011).

FMO diversity in plants is much greater than in other organisms, with 29 genes annotated as *FMO*-like in Arabidopsis thaliana (Schlaich, 2007). The first *FMO*-like gene to be characterised in plants was termed *YUCCA* (*YUC1*), whose overexpression led to elevated auxin levels (Zhao et al., 2001). In petunia, overexpression of the *YUCCA* ortholog *FLOOZY* also resulted in endogenous accumulation of indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) (Tobeña-Santamaria et al., 2002). *FMO*-like genes involved in auxin signalling have also been found in strawberry, tomato and rice (Expósito-Rodríguez et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2012; Yi et al., 2013). The possible involvement of plant *FMO*-like genes in auxin biosynthesis implicates some plant FMOs in a substrate-specific manner of compound oxidation, distinct from the non-specific detoxifying mechanisms suggested for the mammalian FMOs (Olszak et al., 2006).

Phylogenetic analysis of *Arabidopsis thaliana FMOs* separates them into three distinct clusters, with group 1 *FMOs* involved in auxin synthesis, group 2 *FMOs* involved in sulphur-oxygenation (Olszak et al., 2006; Schlaich, 2007). Group 3 consists of a pseudogene *AtFMOp*, and its close homolog *AtFMO1*, which has important functions in plant defence signalling (Bartsch et al., 2006; Koch et al., 2006; Mishina and Zeier, 2006; Olszak et al., 2006).

1.5.1 FMO1 in EDS1/PAD4 dependent defence

AtFMO1 (FMO1) was identified as a gene upregulated in *A. thaliana* wild-type plants infected with *Pst* DC3000 strains expressing the effectors *avrRPM1* or *avrRPS4* (Bartsch et al., 2006). This *FMO1* expression was dependent on *EDS1* and *PAD4* and was suppressed in *eds1-1* and *pad4-5* mutants. Arabidopsis thaliana plants constitutively overexpressing FMO1, displayed enhanced resistance to *P. syringae* (Koch et al., 2006). The role of *FMO1* in defence against pathogens was additionally analysed using a T-DNA insertion mutant, fmo1-1 (Bartsch et al., 2006).

Infection of the *A. thaliana fmo1-1* mutant with the oomycete pathogen *H. arabidopsidis* (Cala2), that is recognized by the TIR-NB-LRR–type *R* gene *RPP2*, displays a loss-of resistance phenotype with trailing necrosis. Defects in *FMO1* also partially disabled TIR-NB-LRR mediated resistance and basal defence against Pst DC3000 expressing *avrRPS4*. However, resistance mediated by the CC-NB-LRR proteins RPP8 and RPM1 was unaffected in the *fmo1-1* mutant plants. SA accumulates to wild type levels in the fmo1-1 mutant, during *RPM1* and *RPS4* responses.

Thus, SA production in CC and TIR-NB-LRR triggered resistance is independent of *FMO1* (Bartsch et al., 2006). However, *FMO1* is required for basal resistance to invasive virulent pathogens and for TIR-NB-LRR conditioned resistance and HR lesion formation due to avirulent pathogens (Bartsch et al., 2006; Olszak et al., 2006). The resistance response evoked by RPP8 and RPM1 recognition in the *A. thaliana fmo1-1* mutants was similar to that in plants with defects in EDS1, PAD4 or SAG101. All the above factors lead

to the conclusion that, FMO1 is involved in an SA-independent branch of EDS1/PAD4 defence signalling.

1.5.2 FMO1 in systemic acquired resistance

Analysis of publicly available microarray experiment data led to the identification of uncharacterized *Arabidopsis thaliana* genes involved in SAR establishment. *FMO1* expression was found to be upregulated after infection with the virulent *Pst* DC3000 and avirulent *Pst avrRpm1* bacterial strains, with the avirulent bacterial strains inducing a faster transcriptional upregulation as compared to virulent strains (Mishina and Zeier, 2006). *FMO1* expression at the site of pathogen inoculation was independent of SA production and signalling, however, an intact SA-signalling pathway was essential for systemic *FMO1* expression. SAR establishment was also closely correlated to enhanced *FMO1* expression in systemic tissue (Mishina and Zeier, 2006). A high-throughput genetic screen for SAR-deficient mutants in *A. thaliana* also isolated plants with hitherto uncharacterised mutations in *FMO1* (Zhang et al., 2011). Thus, FMO1 was proven to be an essential component of SAR development.

A study by the Zeier group has delved deeper into the role of FMO1 in SAR induction and had identified the lysine catabolite pipecolic acid (Pip) as a critical regulator of inducible plant immunity (Navarova et al., 2012). Their data suggests that Pip is the mobile signal which is transported from the primary infected leaves to the distal uninfected leaves of the plant during SAR. Within the distal leaf tissue, Pip upregulates expression of *AGD2-like defense response protein1 (ALD1)* and *FMO1*. This in turn potentiates SA production in the systemic leaves, via upregulation of *ICS1*. It was also shown that *FMO1* is required for dehydroabietinal (DA) and azelaic acid (Aza) induced resistance (Chaturvedi et al., 2012; Jung et al., 2009). Moreover, Aza enhances resistance in an *ALD1*-dependent manner (Jung et al., 2009). These findings suggest that a Pip-/*FMO1*-dependent amplification loop is an essential mediator for SAR signal transduction of at least a section of mobile SAR signals. Based on current data, and adapted from a recent publication (Gruner et al., 2013) a model of the position and role of *FMO1* in plant defence signalling (Fig. 1) was created.



Figure 1: Current model of FMO1 involvement in plant defence. Infection by pathogens causes upregulation of the *EDS1/PAD4* signalling node, which in turn, promotes production of SA via *ICS1*, causing upregulation of *NPR1* and other SA-dependent defence responses. Infection and activation of *EDS1/PAD4* expression also leads to enhanced production of the SAR signalling metabolite, Pip and expression of *ALD1* in systemic tissues. Enhanced *EDS1/PAD4* expression, as well as Pip production/*ALD1* expression upregulate expression of *FMO1*. *FMO1* expression also feeds back into the SA-loop by enhancing *ICS1* expression. *FMO1* is a marker gene for the *EDS1/PAD4* pathway and promotes SA-independent defence responses. Adapted from (Gruner et al., 2013)

1.5.3 FMO1 and cell death

One of the first studies on *AtFMO1* dealt with its role in programmed cell death. *AtFMO1* was initially identified as a gene upregulated in the *Arabidopsis thaliana acd11* mutant, which constitutively activates *EDS1*, *PAD4* and SA-dependent PCD and defence (Brodersen et al., 2002; Olszak et al., 2006). Expression was also increased in the *lsd1* mutant, which causes run-away cell death (Dietrich et al., 1997). However, analysis of *acd11/fmo1* mutant plants indicated that *FMO1* is not essential for the activation and progression of run-away cell death in *acd11*. *FMO1* was also found to be expressed during developmental senescence, avirulent, and virulent bacterial infections (Olszak et al., 2006). *FMO1* was also expressed in response to the cell-death inducing chemicals fumonisin B1 (FB1) and rose bengal (RB). Although *FMO1* expression in all the above cases occurred in the region of senescence/HR-like lesions, it does not resolve whether *FMO1* expression has a role in cell death initiation or execution, or whether it is a symptom of cell death.

1.5.4 FMO1 function

Current knowledge about *FMO1* prompts speculation about its role in plant defence. *FMO1* expression is upregulated upon application of FB1, a toxin produced by the necrotrophic fungal plant pathogen *Fusarium moniliforme* (Stone et al., 2000). This could indicate a potential function of *FMO1* in detoxification of pathogen-derived compounds, which would be analogous to the function of FMOs in animals.

Another interesting possibility is that FMO1 can influence the redox state of plant cells. Pathogen-defence responses, especially *EDS1/PAD4*-mediated defence responses, can be regulated by changes in the redox state (Mou et al., 2003; Wiermer et al., 2005). This modulation of the redox state by FMO1 would also be in accordance with the role of FMOs in yeast and animals. The redox changes could be a result of ROS production, or influence on the intracellular glutathione levels (Rauckman et al., 1979; Tynes et al., 1986; Suh et al., 1996). *FMO1* was induced by the extracellular superoxide generating system xanthine/xanthine oxidase (X/XO) and the xanthine dye rose bengal (Olszak et al., 2006). However, this superoxide-induced *FMO1* expression occurred independently of the ROS signal transducing protein kinase OXI1. Hence, the precise relationship between ROS production, *FMO1* activity and defence signalling remains unresolved.

Functional FMO enzymes are characterised by the presence of FAD binding sites, FMO-identifying motifs, and NADPH binding domains. Multiple sequence alignments of FMO1 with functionally characterized FMOs from Arabidopsis, bacteria, yeast, insect, and humans indicated that *A. thaliana* FMO1 also possesses these domains (Bartsch et al., 2006). The conserved Gly residues in the FAD and NADPH binding sites of FMO1 are important for its enzymatic activity and for cofactor binding (Rescigno and Perham, 1994; Kubo et al., 1997). Transgenic *fmo1-1* plants expressing fmo1 with a site–directed mutation converting the conserved Gly residues of the FAD- and NADPH-binding motifs to Ala had impaired pathogen resistance. However, the *fmo1-1* lines could be complemented for pathogen resistance by constitutively expressing wild-type FMO1 (Bartsch et al., 2006). Thus, flavin-dependent monooxygenase activity is essential for *FMO1* defense function.

1.6 Chemical biology and screening strategies

Direct or indirect alteration of protein function via gene mutations to create detectable phenotypes is the key to discovery of new biological functions (Hicks and Raikhel, 2012). The most common approach involves random or directed mutagenesis, e.g. EMS treatment, and gene mapping by breeding. However, such genetic approaches entail several limitations such as lethality due to essential gene functions, genetic redundancy, and pleiotropic effects due to multi-functionality of a gene product.

Chemical genetics is defined as the use of small molecules to alter protein function and thus, analyse the biological function of the target protein (Zheng et al., 2004). Small, cell-permeable molecules can complement classic mutational approaches to analyse biological mechanisms, since interference with small molecules can create swift, conditional and reversible alterations of biological functions (Smukste and Stockwell, 2005). Additionally, chemical activity can be specific for different isoforms of a gene product, e.g. due to formation of a protein complex or post-translational modifications (Tóth and van der Hoorn, 2010). Chemical genetic approaches have been utilised in animal models for cell death and cancer research, and drug development since several years (Schreiber, 1998; Stockwell, 2000; Mayer, 2003; Gangadhar and Stockwell, 2007). In the past decade, use of chemical biology to identify molecules altering plant phenotype and application of such molecules in genetic screens has found broader applications in plant biology as well (McCourt and Desveaux, 2010; Hicks and Raikhel, 2012).

Since the model plant *A. thaliana* can be cultivated in microplates, it is eminently suitable for adoption in high throughput chemical biology assays to identify cellular targets that are inaccessible or recalcitrant to conventional mutational analysis. The first step of a chemical biology study involves development of a robust assay to screen for phenotypic changes (e.g. reporter gene activity or growth inhibition) upon chemical treatment. The next phase involves primary screening with a library of chemical compounds to identify chemicals modulating activity of the targeted gene/protein. Identification of candidate compounds, or 'hits' is only one part of a successful chemical biology screen. The selected compounds need to be critically validated to confirm their activity in the targeted biological process. This validation involves verification of their

activity in secondary screens (e.g. using a different biological readout related to the primary screen), determination of half minimum inhibitory or activating concentration (IC₅₀/EC₅₀) values, and determination of selectivity by comparing their effects on a variety of biological responses. Counterscreening is also necessary to eliminate false positive hits, and isolation of biologically relevant chemicals. These chemicals are useful tools for biological studies involving their target signalling pathway.

However, the ultimate aim of a chemical biology screen is to identify the target of a selected chemical, often a protein, which is essential to analyse the precise mode-ofaction of the chemical. The classical and predominant approach for target identification is screening of EMS-mutagenised plants for resistance to the selected chemical. This combination of a chemical screen with a genetic approach is defined as 'chemical genetics'. This approach has been successfully applied for identification of the target of gravicin, and the ABA agonist pyrabactin (Rojas-Pierce et al., 2007; Park et al., 2009). Nevertheless, the step from initial mutant identification to target identification in this approach, is time consuming and labour intensive. Recently, a successful chemical biology screen has identified the target of the chemical jarin, based on its activity within known signalling pathways (Meesters et al., 2014). In addition to genetic approaches, biochemistry techniques such as affinity purification are also widely used for target identification of selective chemicals (Dejonghe and Russinova, 2014). Affinity purification typically involves binding of a tag (e.g. biotin) to the selective small molecule to enable pulldown of the target from amongst a complex mixture. Determination of the structureactivity relationship of the selective compound is crucial before derivatization of the compound for affinity tagging. Analogs of the selected chemical are tested for their activity in the target pathway, to determine the functional groups and moieties vital for its activity. Structure activity relationship is not just useful for compound derivatization, but also provides important clues about the mode-of-action of the candidate chemical. Additional target identification techniques include molecular biology approaches such as the yeast-three-hybrid technology (Cottier et al., 2011) and protein microarrays (Huang et al., 2004). Overall, plant chemical biology has opened new avenues for research into gene function, where traditional genetic techniques have been hitherto ineffective or time consuming.

1.7 Aims of this thesis

The initial discovery of *A. thaliana* FMO1 was followed by several important breakthroughs concerning the role of *FMO1* in plant defence within the span of a year (Bartsch et al., 2006; Koch et al., 2006; Mishina and Zeier, 2006; Olszak et al., 2006). The role of *FMO1* in SAR has also been analysed (Navarova et al., 2012; Gruner et al., 2013). However, genetic approaches have failed to unravel the mechanism of *FMO1* function, and additional components involved in mediating *EDS1*-dependent, SA-independent signalling. Therefore, novel research techniques need to be applied to dissect the intriguing role and function of *FMO1* in plant defence signalling.

Chemical biology has the potential to resolve unsolved research questions, where traditional genetic approaches have failed. The aim of this thesis is to establish a high throughput chemical screen to identify compounds modulating expression of *FMO1* in *A*. *thaliana*. The candidate chemicals would then undergo secondary and counter-screening to eliminate compounds that affect the reporter readout, leaving only chemicals with activity specific to the *FMO1*-related defence pathway.

Such selective chemicals would then be used as probes to analyse the *EDS1*-dependent and SA-independent defence signalling mechanism in plants. The compound could also help dissect the complex interplay between *FMO1* and cell death activation in plants. Ultimately, biochemical methods and genetic screens could be used to identify the modeof-action of the chemical and might help identify new *FMO1*-regulatory factors, and provide greater mechanistic knowledge about the *EDS1*-dependent and SA-independent signalling pathway.

2 Screening of natural and synthetic compound libraries uncovers several putative activators

I aimed at identifying small molecules that selectively modulate *FMO1* signalling in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. For this challenging task, I developed a chemical screen using *Arabidopsis thaliana* seedlings expressing a YFP tagged FMO1 fusion protein, under control of the native *FMO1* promoter in a *fmo1* mutant background. Fumonisin B1 (FB1), which is a chemical inducer of *FMO1* (Olszak et al., 2006) was used as a positive control. Initially, I treated *Arabidopsis thaliana pFMO1::FMO1:YFP* seedlings of different ages, with varying concentrations of FB1 and monitored the YFP fluorescence emitted from the plants, over a course of several days.

Eighteen day old seedlings emitted higher fluorescence than thirteen day old seedlings. Hence, 18-day old seedlings were selected for the screening, since the higher fluorescence made YFP detection in a fluorometer easier, and more consistent. I could observe a significant increase in fluorescence in the FB1 treated seedlings, over the mock (DMSO) treated seedlings, starting from 4 days post treatment (Fig. 1). Six days after treatment, there was a three-fold increase in fluorescence relative to the negative control treatment. The standard deviation of the relative fluorescence values at this time point was also lower than that at 7 days post treatment (Fig 1).

Treatment with 10μ M FB1 also resulted in a more consistent increase in fluorescence, with lesser variation, in contrast to the treatment with 5μ M and 10μ M FB1 (data not shown). The negative control treatment with the chemical solvent DMSO (1%), had no effect on the YFP levels of the seedlings, and the fluorescence was constant like non-treated seedlings (data not shown). Hence, the assay conditions were set as treatment of 18-day old *Arabidopsis thaliana pFMO1::*FMO1:YFP seedlings for 6 days with 10μ M FB1 as the positive control and 1% DMSO as the negative control (Fig. 3). The effect of FB1 on the *pFMO1::*FMO1:YFP seedlings was also confirmed by fluorescence visualisation using confocal microscopy (Fig. 2).

I performed two chemical screens in this study: (1) a screen for inhibitors of FB1induced FMO1-YFP expression and (2) a screen for activators of FMO1-YFP expression. The inhibitor screen utilised the positive control FB1 to induce FMO1-YFP expression in chemical pre-treated seedlings. The chemicals inhibiting FB1-induced YFP fluorescence in the seedlings were considered as inhibitors of FMO1-YFP expression. In the activator screen, *A. thaliana pFMO1::*FMO1:YFP seedlings were treated only with chemicals and the fluorescence emitted was compared to the FB1 (positive) and DMSO (negative) control treatments. Chemicals enhancing YFP fluorescence in the seedlings were considered as activators of FMO1-YFP expression.



Figure 1: Time course of the effect of fumonisin B1 on Arabidopsis thaliana pFMO1::FMO1:YFP seedlings grown in liquid culture. 18 day old seedlings were treated with 10μ M FB1 or 1% DMSO (mock). The fluorescence emitted from the seedlings was monitored daily for 7 days after initial treatment. Asterisks indicate significant differences compared to the mock control (Student's t-test ***p<0.001).



Figure 2: Effect of fumonisin B1 on fluorescence in *Arabidopsis thaliana pFMO1::***FMO1-YFP seedlings.** 18 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana pFMO1::***FMO1**:**YFP** seedlings were treated with DMSO and FB1 at the indicated concentrations. Four days after the treatment, the seedlings were examined under a confocal microscope for presence of YFP fluorescence.



Figure 3: Graphic representation of the chemical screening protocol for activators of FMO1:YFP. 18 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana pFMO1:*:FMO1:YFP seedlings were treated for 6 days with 1488 chemical compounds (each at 10-20 μ M) in duplicate/triplicate. 10 μ M FB1 and 1% DMSO were the positive and negative controls, respectively. The fluorescence emitted from the seedlings was measured 6 days post treatment. A similar protocol was followed for the inhibitor screen, but the seedlings were treated with 10 μ M fumonisin B1 one hour after chemical treatment with 1287 chemicals (each at 10-20 μ M).

2.1 Screen for inhibitors

The inhibitor screen did not yield any chemical inhibitor of FMO1-YFP. The primary reason for this was that FB1, the chemical inducer used for the screen, was a relatively weak activator of FMO1-YFP. The low YFP fluorescence of the treated samples, coupled with their relatively high variance, made it difficult to distinguish any inhibitor hits. The difference between the positive and negative controls was too low to identify a chemical hit inducing YFP fluorescence to an intermediate value.



Figure 4: Chemical screen for inhibitors of *pFMO1::***FMO1:YFP expression.** 18 day old *A. thaliana pFMO1::***FMO1:YFP** seedlings were pre-incubated for 1 h with 1287 chemical compounds (10-20 μ M each) and expression of the reporter gene was induced by 10 μ M fumonisin B1. YFP activity was determined after 6 days in duplicate/triplicate samples and the average fluorescence value per compound was normalised to the average activity of the whole plate (96 samples). The shaded area represents the threshold determined for selection of inhibitors.

2.2 Screen for activators

Arabidopsis thaliana pFMO1::FMO1:YFP seedlings were screened for chemicals increasing YFP fluorescence using a library of 1488 compounds (Fig. 5). The screening revealed that the vast majority of compounds had no effect on YFP levels in the plants. Around 200 compounds increased the fluorescence to more than 1.5 times the fluorescence value of the plate average/negative DMSO control. The principle behind using the plate average or the negative control for normalisation of the fluorescence, is that since, most chemicals have no effect on YFP levels in the plants, the average fluorescence values of the entire screening plate resemble the negative control. All of these compounds were then rescreened to confirm their role in increasing FMO1-YFP activity. For the majority of these 200 compounds, activity could not be confirmed. However, this was not unexpected, since several of these already showed large variation in activity in the primary screen. Additionally, I had included weak activators of FMO1-YFP expression in the rescreening to avoid missing on false negatives. Hence, I applied a stringent criteria for rescreening putative hits found in the primary activator screen. Thirteen compounds (Fig. 5) could be confirmed as activators of FMO1:YFP expression through the rescreening, giving me a hit rate of 0.87%.



Figure 5: Chemical screen for activators of *pFMO1::***FMO1:YFP expression.** 18 day old *pFMO1::FMO1:YFP* seedlings were treated with 1488 chemical compounds (10-20 μ M each). YFP activity was determined after 6 days in duplicate/triplicate samples and the average fluorescence value per compound was normalised to the average activity of the whole plate (96 samples). The shaded area represents the threshold determined for selection of activators. Rescreening of the candidates above this threshold identified 13 compounds (indicated in green) increasing YFP activity.



Figure 5: Names and strucutres of selected chemical activators of *pFMO1::*FMO1:YFP expression

2.2.1 Verification of activator chemicals

It was necessary to independently verify that the thirteen selected activator compounds indeed lead to accumulation of FMO1-YFP protein and subsequent increase in YFP fluorescence. Several of the chemicals used in the screening, including the positive control FB1, are known to induce programmed cell death in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Stone et al., 2000). Auto-fluorescence due to cell death in the plants has a wavelength similar to YFP, which might lead to selection of phytotoxic compounds in the primary screen. Hence, it was important to distinguish between chemicals affecting YFP fluorescence in the original screen, from those modulating FMO1-YFP protein levels, to exclude false positives from the screening hits (Fig. 5).

In order to exclude interference due to autofluorescence, I monitored expression of a different reporter, ß-glucuronidase (GUS) under control of the *FMO1* promoter (Olszak

32

et al., 2006). However, the *pFMO1*::GUS reporter line proved to be unstable, with high variation of GUS activity even in the untreated samples and after DMSO control treatment (data not shown). Hence, for confirmation of the activator candidates, a Western Blot experiment was performed to check for the accumulation of FMO1-YFP protein after chemical treatment.

Western blot analysis was performed with protein samples extracted from pFMO1::FMO1:YFP seedlings treated with the thirteen primary hit compounds (10 μ M each) for 1 day and 4 days. The blot was probed with an anti-GFP antibody to detect the presence of FMO1-YFP in the samples. The analysis indicated, that out of the thirteen chemical candidates tested, five led to an increase in accumulation of the FMO1-YFP protein (Fig. 6). FMO1-YFP protein accumulation was strongly induced in seedlings treated for 1 day with thaxtomin A, 5-iodotubercidin and monensin sodium salt. A weaker induction was observed in the merbromin and staurosporine treated samples. No signal was recorded for 4 day-treatment (data not shown).

A time course experiment conducted on similar lines revealed that maximum protein accumulation could be detected 24 hours post treatment, and thereafter declined again (data not shown). Thus, the ideal treatment time for FMO1 activity was 24 hours, and not 4-6 days as observed under primary screening conditions. The five confirmed chemical candidates do not have any obvious structural similarity (Fig. 5, Fig. 6).



Figure 6: Accumulation of FMO1-YFP protein in response to treatment with primary hit compounds using a Western blot. 18 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana pFMO1*::FMO1:YFP seedlings were treated with 10 μ M chemical compounds for 24 h. Western blotting was performed with protein extracts from these seedlings using an α -GFP antibody, which binds to YFP. Five of the initial 13 compounds were confirmed as activators of FMO1-YFP. These are listed above along with their chemical structures. At least two independent experiments revealed comparable results. Ponceau staining confirmed loading of equal amounts of protein.

2.2.2 Confirmation of FMO1 induction in wild-type seedlings by qRT-PCR

The primary and secondary screen had identified five chemicals which increased FMO1-YFP accumulation in *A. thaliana* seedlings. However, I also wanted to know whether treatment with activator candidates could promote *FMO1* transcript accumulation in wild-type Columbia (Col-0) seedlings. It was important to identify whether the effect on *FMO1* in *A. thaliana* seedlings was a general response, or was restricted to the *fmo1-1* mutant background of the seedlings used for the primary screen. Therefore, I analysed the changes in *FMO1* gene expression over time by qRT-PCR, after treatment with the candidate activators. Two week old *A. thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated with 10µM merbromin, monensin sodium salt, thaxtomin A, staurosporine and 5-iodotubercidin. The negative control was treatment with 1% DMSO. Samples were collected, up until 48h post-treatment. All five selected chemicals significantly increasing
FMO1 expression 24h post treatment (Fig. 7). Hence, 24h was selected as the ideal treatment time for all future experiments.



Figure 7: Changes in transcription of *FMO1* over time after treatment with 10µM activator compounds. 14 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated with 10µM each of **A**: thaxtomin A, merbromin, monensin sodium salt, 5-iodotubercidin and **B**: staurosporine. Plants were harvested at the indicated time points and expression was monitored by qRT-PCR. All five compounds induced *FMO1* expression. Expression was normalized to the untreated control at time 0h and is shown as average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation. Asterisks indicate significant differences compared to the mock control (Student's t-test ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, **p<0.05).

The aim of this study was to identify chemicals which selectively activate the *EDS1*dependent and salicylic acid-independent signalling mechanism in plants. However, staurosporine and 5-iodotubercidin are general kinase inhibitors, and thus are likely to perturb several plant signalling pathways (Massillon et al., 1994; Meggio et al., 1995). Previous screens in our laboratory indicated that staurosporine and 5-iodotubercidin inhibit jasmonic acid and calcium signalling, and also impair expression of PR1-GUS, which is a marker of salicylic acid signalling (Christian Meesters, Jens Maintz, Vivek Halder and Mohamed Suliman; personal communication). Hence, these two chemicals were excluded from further analysis, and I focused on investigating the activity of thaxtomin A, merbromin and monensin sodium salt.

2.3 Thaxtomin A is a potent *FMO1* upregulator

Thaxtomin A was the strongest activator of FMO1-YFP accumulation (Fig. 6). *FMO1* expression was also enhanced by thaxtomin A (Fig. 7). Thaxtomin A is a phytotoxic compound produced by several *Streptomyces scabies* (King et al., 1989), which is a pathogenic bacterium, responsible for scab disease in potatoes (Lambert and Loria, 1989). Thaxtomin A production is associated with the pathogenicity of the bacteria, and causes formation of scab-like lesions on the potato tuber, which are characteristic of the disease (King et al., 1991; Goyer et al., 1998; Kinkel et al., 1998). Thaxtomin A inhibits cellulose synthesis in plants (Scheible et al., 2003). The strong activity in *FMO1* upregulation, coupled with the known role in plant disease induction, made thaxtomin A an interesting candidate for further analysis.

2.3.1 Timeline and dose-dependence of thaxtomin A-induced FMO1

I wanted to determine whether the concentration of thaxtomin A used in previous experiments was appropriate, or whether it needed to be adjusted for an optimal output. *A. thaliana* Col-O seedlings were treated for 24h with increasing concentrations of thaxtomin A. qRT-PCR analysis was used to determine *FMO1* expression in the seedlings. *FMO1* expression increased with an increase in the concentration of thaxtomin A used for the treatment, upto 50nM thaxtomin A. Beyond this concentration, there was no major and consistent increase in *FMO1* expression, and expression was high, albeit variable. Thus, treatment with 50nM or higher concentration of thaxtomin A significantly increases expression of *FMO1* in *A. thaliana* seedlings. Thaxtomin A had been used before in studies on *A. thaliana* seedlings at a concentration of 100nM (Scheible et al., 2003). 100nM thaxtomin A also had a consistently robust effect on *FMO1* in all my experiments, and hence, this concentration was selected for use in all further experiments, unless otherwise stated.



Figure 8: Dose-response of thaxtomin A-induced FMO1 expression. 14 day old Arabidopsis thaliana Col-0 seedlings were treated for 24h with 1%DMSO or with thaxtomin A at the indicated concentrations. *FMO1* activity was quantified using qRT-PCR. Expression was normalized to the DMSO control and is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation. This experiment was repeated twice with similar results. Asterisks indicate significant differences compared to the DMSO control (Student's t-test ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05). At least two independent experiments revealed comparable results.

The effect of thaxtomin A on *FMO1* over time had been analysed (Fig 7). However, I wanted to ensure that the expression pattern held true for the concentration selected through the thaxtomin A dose dependency test. Thaxtomin A at a concentration of 100nM was used to analyse expression of *FMO1* at different time points. *A. thaliana* seedlings were treated with 100nM thaxtomin A and samples were collected at various time points up until 48h post treatment. There is a low expression of *FMO1* at early time points, but it increases rapidly after 8h post treatment (Fig 9). *FMO1* expression reaches a maximum at 24h, and declines thereafter.



Figure 9: Changes in *FMO1* expression over time, after treatment with 100nM thaxtomin A. 13 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated for 24h with 1% DMSO or 100nM thaxtomin A. Plants were harvested at the indicated time points, and expression was monitored by qRT-PCR. Expression was normalized to the DMSO control and is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation. Asterisks indicate significant differences compared to the DMSO control (Student's t-test ***p<0.001, *p<0.05)

2.3.2 Thaxtomin A affects seedling growth, but not germination

Since thaxtomin A is such a potent activator of *FMO1* expression even at low concentrations, the question was whether it also affects plant germination and growth. Wild-type *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seeds were grown liquid medium containing increasing concentrations of thaxtomin A. All the seeds in the plate germinated. Growth was normal in 2nM thaxtomin A. However, in 5-10nM and higher concentrations of thaxtomin A, the seedlings failed to develop and their growth was arrested (Fig. 10). The seedlings grew normally in the untreated and the 1% DMSO control solutions. Thus, thaxtomin A affects seedling growth, but not germination.



Figure 10: Effect of increasing concentrations of thaxtomin A on germination and growth. *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were sown in media containing thaxtomin A at the indicated concentrations. After 2 days of vernalization, the seeds were left to germinate and grow for two weeks. The picture depicts representative plants. Three independent experiments gave similar results.

2.3.3 Thaxtomin A does not trigger MAPK and ROS signalling

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) can act directly as antimicrobial agents (Peng and Kuc, 1992) or indirectly as messengers involved in activation of defence genes in plants (Jabs et al., 1997). I wanted to determine whether thaxtomin A produces ROS signals within the plant, thus leading to activation of defence responses. *A. thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated with 100nM thaxtomin A, and the rate of ROS production was compared to treatment with the ROS-inducer flg22 (1 μ M). ROS production was measured in relative luminescence units produced after injection of a luminol and hydrogen peroxide containing solution. As previously reported (Shi et al., 2013), the flg22-treated

seedlings produced a strong, transient increase in luminescence, over a time period of about 30 minutes (Fig 11). By contrast, thaxtomin A did not affect luminescence and values remained low, similar to the DMSO treatment. Thus, thaxtomin A does not lead to ROS production within the plant.



Figure 11: Effect of thaxtomin A and flg22 application on production of reactive oxygen species. 14 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings in liquid medium were treated with either 100nM thaxtomin A or 1 μ M flg22 to induce ROS production. 1% DMSO treatment served as a negative control. A solution containing luminol and peroxidase was immediately injected and luminescence was monitored over the indicated time course. Luminescence is depicted in relative light units (RLU). The graph depicts 12 biological replicates ± standard deviation. Two independent experiments gave similar results.

Prolonged activation of MAPK cascades has been known to induce *FMO1* expression (Tsuda et al., 2013). Hence, I wanted to determine whether thaxtomin A triggers MAPK responses, leading to an increase in *FMO1* expression. Seedlings were treated with 100nM thaxtomin A, and DMSO and flg22 treatment were used as negative and positive controls respectively. As expected, there was an accumulation of the active, phosphorylated MPK6 and MPK3 after flg22 application. However, thaxtomin A was unable to trigger accumulation of phosphorylated MAPK proteins (Fig. 12). Thus, thaxtomin A probably acts downstream of MAPK phosphorylation, to induce *FMO1* expression.

Therefore, thaxtomin A is a potent activator of *FMO1* expression, but does not perturb jasmonic acid signalling, and does not trigger early defence signalling responses such as MAPK activation, intracellular calcium spiking and ROS production (Table 1).

Hence, going further, I analysed the role of thaxtomin A in late defence signalling, and activity in regulation of FMO1-related defence responses.



Figure 12: Role of thaxtomin A in MAPK activation. 14 day old Arabidopsis thaliana Col-0 seedlings were treated for the indicated time with either 1% DMSO, 100nM thaxtomin A or 1µM flg22 to activate mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs). Accumulation of phosphorylated MAPKs upon application of chemicals was analysed by α -phospho-p44/42-MAPK immunoblot. At least three independent experiments revealed comparable results. Ponceau staining confirmed loading of equal amounts of protein.

Table 1: Overview of the effect of thaxtomin A on plant defence markers. The observed role of thaxtomin A in plant defence in the current screen was compared to its activity in screens for calcium signalling, salicylic acid-dependent *PR1* signalling and in inhibition of the jasmonic acid marker gene *VSP1*. Data compiled from screens by Jens Maintz, Vivek Halder and Mohamed Suliman.

			Calcium		ROS	МАРК
Name	FMO1:YFP	PR1:GUS	signalling	VSP1:GUS	production	activation
Thaxtomin A	Activator	Activator	No effect	No effect	No effect	No effect

2.3.4 Analysis of perturbations in amino acid levels

FMO1 is an essential component of systemic acquired resistance (SAR) development in plants and establishment of SAR is closely correlated to enhanced *FMO1* expression in systemic tissue (Mishina and Zeier, 2006). Upon activation of SAR in plants, there is a change in the amino acid profile of the plant (Navarova et al., 2012). There is a significant increase in levels of the defence-inducible amino acids, tyrosine and tryptophan, and a massive accumulation of α -aminoadipic acid (AAD) and the lysine derivative, pipecolic acid. Pipecolic acid is hypothesised to be a mobile signal which is transmitted across the plant, mediating SAR, and leading to upregulation of *AGD2-like defense response protein1* (ALD1) (Navarova et al., 2012). ALD1 has been suggested to be important for FMO1 activation in SAR reactions. Hence, I wanted to know if thaxtomin treatment also perturbs AAD and pipecolic acid accumulation in *A. thaliana* seedlings, thus leading to enhanced FMO1 expression. Additionally, I also wanted to find out if treatment with thaxtomin A affects the levels of defence-inducible amino acids such as tyrosine and tryptophan. *A. thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated with either 1% DMSO or 100nM thaxtomin A and their amino acid profile was analysed.

There was a high alanine content in both, the DMSO and the thaxtomin A-treated seedlings. However, there was no major difference between the treatments. By contrast, levels of pipecolic acid and α -aminoadipic acid were very low (hardly detectable) and did not change upon thaxtomin A treatment (Fig. 13). The levels of the defence-inducible amino acids were also unchanged. Thus, there does not seem to be a role of amino acid signalling in thaxtomin A- induced *FMO1* upregulation.



Figure 13: Thaxtomin A induced changes in free amino acid content of *Arabidopsis thaliana* **seedlings.** 14 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated for 24h with 1% DMSO or 100nM thaxtomin A. The content of **A**: alanine and **B**: other amino acids in the seedlings was quantified using GC/MS and is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation.

2.3.5 Thaxtomin A leads to an increase in salicylic acid levels

FMO1 activation triggers a downstream defence responses, leading to upregulation of the salicylic acid biosynthesis gene *Isochorismate Synthase1 (ICS1)* and production of the defence metabolite, salicylic acid (Mishina and Zeier, 2006). Hence, I wanted to probe whether thaxtomin A, together with induced *FMO1* expression, leads to changes in the salicylic acid content in the plant. The total and free salicylic acid levels in the plant were quantified 24h after treatment with 100nM thaxtomin A, and were compared to the untreated and DMSO controls.

There was a highly significant increase (4-5-fold) in both, the total and the free salicylic acid content of the seedlings after treatment with thaxtomin A (Fig. 14). Thus, thaxtomin A not only induced *FMO1* expression (Fig. 6, Fig. 9), but also led to an increase in salicylic acid production.



Figure 14: Changes in free and total salicylic acid content of *Arabidopsis thaliana* **seedlings due to thaxtomin A treatment.** 14 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated for 24h with 100nM thaxtomin A. The negative controls were treatment with 1% DMSO or no treatment. The free and total salicylic acid content of the seedlings was quantified using GC/MS and is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation. Asterisks indicate significant differences compared to the DMSO control (Student's t-test ***p<0.001). Two independent experiments gave similar results.

2.3.6 Structure-activity relationship of thaxtomin A

Thaxtomin C is a precursor of thaxtomin A, lacking a methyl group and a phenolic hydroxyl group, and was also isolated from *Streptomyces* species (King et. a., 1994). It is

responsible for induction of soil rot in sweet potatoes and causes necrosis in root tissue (Guan et al., 2012). *A. thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated with varying concentrations of thaxtomin C to determine whether it can also induce *FMO1* expression. My analysis indicates that thaxtomin C could also upregulate *FMO1*, although to a lower extent than thaxtomin A (Fig. 15).

Protein target identification and cellular localisation of binding proteins are crucial steps following of a successful chemical screen. Both require covalent modification of the identified chemical. Two such modified thaxtomin A derivatives were available. Thaxtomin 1378 was modified to replace the phenolic –OH group of thaxtomin A with an alkyne group, and thaxtomin 1379 had a rhodamine tag substituting the phenolic –OH group. Thaxtomin 1379, was able to significantly increase *FMO1* expression, albeit to a lower extent, and at higher concentrations, as compared to thaxtomin A. Thaxtomin 1378 was unable to cause significant changes in *FMO1* expression (Fig. 15).

Comparison between activities of thaxtomin A and thaxtomin C indicates that the phenolic –OH group of thaxtomin A, which is absent in thaxtomin C is not essential for its role in upregulation of *FMO1*. The substitution of this –OH group by the rhodamine did not affect activity in thaxtomin 1379, while the alkyne substitution in 1378 greatly reduced activity. This result could be related to differences in charge distribution between the chemicals, leading to differences in uptake by the plant. Alternatively, thaxtomin 1378 could have undergone degradation, since it was synthesized several years ago. It needs to be resynthesized and tested before drawing conclusions from the current results. Thus, changes in thaxtomin A structure can affect its activity in *FMO1* upregulation.



Figure 15: Activation of *FMO1* expression by different thaxtomin A derivatives. 13 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated for 24h with thaxtomin A, alkyne-tagged thaxtomin A 1378, rhodamine-tagged thaxtomin A 1379 and the thaxtomin A precursor, thaxtomin C, at the indicated concentrations. The negative control was treatment with 1% DMSO. Expression of *FMO1* in the chemical treated samples was normalized to that of the DMSO control samples and is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation. Asterisks indicate significant differences compared to the DMSO control (Student's t-test ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05). Two independent experiments had similar results. Structures of the thaxtomin A derivatives are depicted below the graph of their activity.

2.3.7 Role of thaxtomin A in other signalling pathways

An ideal hit compound from a chemical screen should act specifically on the pathway of interest, and not create perturbations in other signalling pathways. This increases the likelihood that a single target within the pathway of interest is affected.

Through screens conducted by colleagues in our laboratory, I knew that thaxtomin A has no effect on calcium signalling, and does not inhibit VSP1, which is a marker gene for jasmonic acid signalling. I wanted to identify whether thaxtomin A has any role in the activation of jasmonic acid, abscisic acid or auxin signalling. *A. thaliana* Col-0 seedlings treated for 24h with thaxtomin A were analysed for expression of *VSP1*, *PIN1* and *RAB18*, which are marker genes for the jasmonic acid, auxin and the abscisic acid pathways respectively. Negligible changes (<10-fold increase) in the expression of these genes were observed, when compared to the highly significant changes in *FMO1* expression (150-fold increase) (Fig. 16). Hence, thaxtomin A appears to act specifically on the *EDS1*-dependent defence signalling pathway.

Thaxtomin A is an inhibitor of cellulose synthesis (Scheible et al., 2003). I wanted to ascertain whether activation of *FMO1* is a consequence of the inhibition of cellulose synthesis, or whether *FMO1* upregulation it is independent of cellulose synthesis inhibition. Hence, I measured the changes in *FMO1* expression after treatment with isoxaben, another cellulose synthase inhibitor.



Figure 16: Effect of thaxtomin A treatment on expression of marker genes of major plant signalling pathways. 13 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated for 24h with 1% DMSO or 100nM thaxtomin A. Activity of *FMO1*, *VSP1*, *PIN1*, and *RAB18* in thaxtomin A treated samples was normalized to that of the DMSO control samples. Gene expression is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation. Asterisks indicate significant differences compared to the DMSO control (Student's t-test ***p<0.001). Two independent experiments had similar results.



Figure 17: Impact of different cellulose synthesis inhibitors on *FMO1* **expression.** 13 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated for with 24h with 1% DMSO, 100nM thaxtomin A, and 5nM or 10nM isoxaben. Expression of *FMO1* in the chemical treated samples was normalized to that of the DMSO control samples and is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation.

There was a 6-10-fold increase in *FMO1* transcription due to Isoxaben, however, it was far less than the change in *FMO1* transcription (54-fold) due to thaxtomin A (Fig. 17). Thus, there does seem to be some role of cellulose synthase inhibition in *FMO1* activation. But, there is an indication that thaxtomin A also has another mechanism of *FMO1* upregulation, which is independent of its role in inhibition of cellulose synthesis.

2.3.8 FMO1 expression due to thaxtomin A is dependent on EDS1 and PAD4

During pathogen infection, *FMO1* expression is fully dependent on *EDS1* and *PAD4*, and independent of SA signalling (Bartsch et al., 2006; Mishina and Zeier, 2006). *ALD1* is also important for systemic *FMO1* upregulation during SAR (Navarova et al., 2012). This prompted me to test whether these genes are also essential for thaxtomin A-induced *FMO1* expression. I chose key genes known or hypothesised to be directly upstream or downstream of *FMO1* in the *EDS1*-dependent defence pathway. *FMO1* expression after treatment with thaxtomin A was determined in null mutants of these genes, to help pinpoint the target node/pathway for the chemical. *FMO1* expression was quantified relative to expression of the control gene *EXPR*, since different mutant backgrounds had different basal *FMO1* levels, and led to skewed results when thaxtomin A-induced *FMO1*

expression in mutant seedlings was measured as the fold value of expression in DMSOtreated mutant seedlings.

My analysis indicated that thaxtomin A- induced *FMO1* expression was dependent on *EDS1* and *PAD4*, but not on *SAG101* (Fig. 18). It was also independent of *ICS1/SID2*. This fits with previous published data that *FMO1* activity is *EDS1*- and *PAD4*-dependent, but *ICS1* independent (Bartsch et al., 2006). The data indicates that thaxtomin A-induced *FMO1* is also independent of *ALD1* (Fig. 18). This corresponds to the lack of increase in pipecolic acid levels upon thaxtomin A treatment (Fig. 13) since *ALD1* expression is tightly linked to an increase in pipecolic acid (Navarova et. al., 2012).



Figure 18: Thaxtomin A induced FMO1 expression in wild-type and mutant *Arabidopsis thaliana* **seedlings.** 13 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* wild-type Col-0 and the indicated mutant seedlings were treated for with 24h with 100nM thaxtomin A. Expression of *FMO1*, relative to *EXPR* expression, is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation. Two independent experiments showed similar results.

2.3.9 Thaxtomin A is a PAD4 transcription activator

I had determined that thaxtomin A increased expression of *FMO1* (Fig. 9). However, it was also important to find out which other genes have a change in expression due to thaxtomin A treatment. As thaxtomin A specifically affects *FMO1* expression dependent on *EDS1*-family signalling (Fig. 18), I tested if other *EDS1*-dependent genes are transcriptionally induced upon the chemical application.

Thaxtomin A led to the upregulation of all the genes tested, 24h post treatment. *EDS1* and its signalling partners, *PAD4* and *SAG101* had a significant (>4-fold) increase in expression (Fig. 19). There was a major increase (100-fold) in expression of *PBS3*, which is linked to *EDS1* activation. There was also massive upregulation (140-fold) of the salicylic acid marker gene *PR1*, while the salicylic acid synthesis gene *ICS1* was also upregulated (24-fold) (Fig. 19). This corresponds to the increase in production of salicylic acid observed after thaxtomin A treatment (Fig. 14). Transcription of *ALD1* is also increased (35-fold), although there was no change in pipecolic acid accumulation (Fig. 13). Thus, there is an overall increase in *EDS1*-dependent gene activity.



Figure 19: Role of thaxtomin A in *EDS1*-dependent gene upregulation. 13 day old *Arabidopsis* thaliana Col-0 seedlings were treated for 24h with 1% DMSO or 100nM thaxtomin A. Activity of indicated genes in the thaxomin A treated samples was normalized to that in the DMSO control samples. Gene expression is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates \pm standard deviation. Asterisks indicate significant differences compared to the DMSO control (Student's t-test ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05). Two independent experiments had similar results.



Figure 20: Mutant background influences thaxtomin A induction of *EDS1* and *PAD4*. 13 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana eds1* and *pad4* mutant seedlings were treated for 24h with 1% DMSO or 100nM thaxtomin A. **A:** *PAD4* expression in *eds1* mutant background and **B:** *EDS1* expression in *pad4* mutant background relative to *EXPR* expression, is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation. Asterisks indicate significant differences compared to the DMSO control (Student's t-test **p<0.01). The results were confirmed in two independent experiments.

EDS1 and PAD4 were found to be crucial for thaxtomin A-induced FMO1 upregulation (Fig. 18). Thaxtomin A also leads to an increase in transcription of EDS1 and PAD4 (Fig. 19). EDS1 is important for stabilising PAD4 protein structure and they form a heterodimeric complex, which is necessary for basal resistance involving up-regulation of PAD4 transcription (Rietz et. al., 2011). Hence, the question was, how does thaxtomin A affect PAD4 transcription in the absence of EDS1, and vice versa? EDS1 expression in a pad4 null mutant background and PAD4 expression in an eds1 null mutant background was analysed after treatment with thaxtomin A. Surprisingly, there was a significant (4-fold) increase in PAD4 expression in the eds1-2 background (Fig. 20). This is interesting, since even in the absence of PAD4 protein stabilisation by EDS1, thaxtomin A still drives PAD4 expression.

However, *EDS1* is not upregulated in the *pad4* mutant background (Fig. 20). Instead, there is a small, but not statistically significant, decrease in *EDS1* expression after thaxtomin A treatment, as compared to the DMSO control. Thus, it appears as if thaxtomin A actively drives *PAD4* expression, while the increase in *EDS1* expression in the wild-type Col-0 seedlings is a feedback effect of *PAD4*-downstream signalling.



Figure 21: Thaxtomin A induced FMO1 expression in an eds1^{L262P} **mutant seedlings.** 13 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* eds1^{L262P} seedlings were treated for 24h with 1% DMSO or 100nM thaxtomin A. *FMO1* expression in thaxtomin A treated plants, relative to DMSO treated plants, is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates \pm standard deviation. Asterisks indicate significant differences compared to the DMSO control (Student's t-test **p<0.01).

I further explored the interaction between EDS1 and PAD4, and the influence of PAD4 stability on *FMO1* expression, by treating *A. thaliana* eds1^{L262P} seedlings with 100nM thaxtomin A. The eds1^{L262P} mutant plants have a mutation in EDS1, which prevents interaction with PAD4 and formation of an EDS1-PAD4 protein heterodimer, while retaining interaction with SAG101 (Rietz et al., 2011). It was hypothesised that PAD4 needs EDS1 for protein stabilisation and driving downstream signalling, and thus thaxtomin A would not increase *FMO1* expression in the eds1^{L262P} mutant. However, there was a significant (20-fold) induction of *FMO1* after thaxtomin A treatment in the eds1^{L262P} plants (Fig. 21). Thus, *PAD4* may have a role in *FMO1* induction, which is independent of its interaction with *EDS1*. However, a functional *EDS1* is still required for complete wild-type-like induction of the *FMO1* gene (Fig. 18).

2.4 Monensin sodium salt and merbromin increase FMO1 expression

Monensin sodium salt and merbromin were identified as activators of FMO1-YFP in the primary screen (Fig. 5). This was confirmed through a Western blot (Fig. 6). Secondary screening also revealed that monensin sodium salt and merbromin positively affect *FMO1* transcript levels (Fig. 7). They seem to be specific for defence against microbial pathogens, since other screens conducted in our laboratory revealed that they do not act as inhibitors of the jasmonic acid pathway and also do not interfere with calcium signalling (Christian Meesters, Mohamed Suliman and Jens Maintz; personal communication) (Table 2).

2.4.1 EC₅₀ determination

The term 'half maximal effective concentration' (EC50) refers to the concentration of a drug, antibody or toxicant which induces a response halfway between the baseline and the maximum. It is commonly used as a measure of a drug's potency. I performed a concentration dependence test of chemical-induced *FMO1* expression by treating *A*. *thaliana* seedlings for 24h with increasing concentrations of monensin sodium salt and merbromin.

The *FMO1* expression increased with an increase in concentration of chemicals used for the treatment, reaching a maxima at 1 μ M for monensin sodium salt treatment (Fig. 22A), and at 20 μ M for merbromin treatment (Fig. 22B), before decreasing. The EC₅₀ value was calculated as 1 μ M for monensin sodium salt and 1 μ M for merbromin. However, since 10 μ M monensin sodium salt and 20 μ M merbromin resulted in a consistently high expression of *FMO1*, these concentrations was chosen for most of my subsequent experiments.



Figure 22: Dose-response of monensin sodium salt and merbromin-induced FMO1 expression. 14 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated for 24h with **A:** monensin sodium salt or **B:** merbromin at the indicated concentrations. *FMO1* expression was quantified using qRT-PCR. Expression was normalized to the DMSO control and is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation. This experiment was repeated twice with similar results.

2.4.2 Monensin sodium salt and merbromin affect germination and growth in a concentration-dependent manner

Monensin sodium salt and merbromin are activators of *FMO1* expression (Fig. 7) and protein accumulation (Fig. 6). *FMO1* upregulation in plants has been linked with an increase in programmed cell death (Olszak et. al., 2006). Hence, I wanted to know whether increasing concentrations of monensin sodium salt and merbromin would hamper germination and growth in the *A. thaliana* seedlings.



Figure 23: Effect of increasing concentrations of monensin sodium salt on germination and growth. *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were sown in media containing monensin sodium salt at the indicated concentrations. After 2 days of vernalization, the seeds were left to germinate and grow for two weeks. The picture depicts representative plants. Two independent experiments gave the same results.

Wild-type Arabidopsis thaliana Col-0 seeds were sown into liquid medium containing increasing concentrations of monensin sodium salt and merbromin. The seedlings germinated and grew well in the untreated and the 1% DMSO control treatments (Fig. 23). However, germination was reduced and growth was stunted in plants grown in monensin sodium salt above a concentration of 500 nM and merbromin above a concentration of 10 μ M. There was a gradual reduction in size of the seedlings, due to an increase in the concentration of the chemical treatment. Thus, monensin sodium salt and merbromin have a concentration dependent effect on germination and growth of *A. thaliana* seedlings, and a chemical concentration which induces high *FMO1* expression (Fig. 22), also causes severe developmental defects.

2.4.3 Interaction between early defence signalling and FMO1 upregulation

Monensin sodium salt and merbromin were demonstrated to affect *FMO1* expression (Fig. 7), which is a part of late defence signalling (Bartsch et. al., 2006; Mishina and Zeier, 2006). The above chemicals did not trigger early calcium spikes in plants (Jens Maintz, personal communication). *Arabidopsis thaliana* react to stress or PAMPs (pathogen associated molecular patterns) by production of an oxidative burst, which is a very fast generated signal leading to upregulation of several defence responses (Zipfel et. al., 2004; Mersmann et. al., 2010). Prolonged activation of MAPK signalling can lead to enhanced *FMO1* expression (Tsuda et. al., 2013) However, it was not known whether monensin sodium salt and merbromin triggered these early defence signalling events, which could lead to long term changes in defence gene expression in the plants (Jabs et al., 1997; Tsuda et al., 2013). Therefore, I analysed *A. thaliana* seedlings treated with monensin sodium salt (10 μ M) and merbromin (20 μ M) for accumulation of active, phosphorylated MAPKs, and production of reactive oxygen species (ROS).

Similar to thaxtomin A treatment, application of monensin sodium salt and merbromin did not generate ROS production in *A. thaliana* seedlings, as compared to the transient increase in ROS after treatment with flg22 (Fig. 24). Thus, ROS production does not mediate upregulation of *FMO1* expression by monensin sodium salt and merbromin.

The active, phosphorylated form of MAPKs was detected in protein extracts of the treated seedlings using an α -phospho-p44/42 antibody. As expected, there was an accumulation of MAPK after flg22 activation (Fig. 25). Merbromin did not influence MAPK phosphorylation. However, monensin sodium salt-treatment increased accumulation of phosphorylated MPK6 and MPK3 protein. Therefore, monensin sodium salt-induced *FMO1* expression could be potentially mediated by MAPK signalling.



Figure 24: Effect of chemical application on production of reactive oxygen species. 14 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings in $\frac{1}{2}$ MS medium were treated with either 1% DMSO, 10µM monensin sodium salt, 20µM merbromin or 1µM flg22 to induce ROS production. A solution containing luminol and peroxidase was immediately injected and luminescence was monitored over the indicated time course. Luminescence is depicted in relative light units (RLU). The graph depicts 12 biological replicates ± standard deviation. Two independent experiments gave similar results.



Figure 25: Role of monensin sodium salt in MAPK activation. 14 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated for the indicated time with either 1% DMSO, 10µM monensin sodium salt, 20µM merbromin or 1µM flg22 to activate mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs). Accumulation of phosphorylated MAPKs upon application of chemicals was analysed by α phospho-p44/42-MAPK immunoblot. At least two independent experiments revealed comparable results. Ponceau staining was used to compare loading amounts of protein. **Table 2: Overview of the effect of monensin sodium salt and merbromin on plant defence markers.** The observed role of monensin sodium salt and merbromin in plant defence in the current screen was compared to its reported activity in screens for calcium signalling, salicylic acid-dependent *PR1* signalling and in inhibition of the jasmonic acid marker gene *VSP1*. Data compiled from screens by Jens Maintz, Christian Meesters, Vivek Halder and Mohamed Suliman.

			Calcium			ROS	МАРК
Name	FMO1:YFP	PR1:GUS	signalling	LOX2:LUC	VSP1:GUS	production	activation
Merbromin	Activator	Inhibitor	No effect	Inhibitor	Inhibitor	No effect	No effect
Monensin							
sodium salt	Activator	Inhibitor	No effect	Inhibitor	Inhibitor	No effect	Activator

2.4.4 Role of monensin sodium salt in other signalling pathways

Monensin sodium salt and merbromin were demonstrated to be inducers of *FMO1* expression (Fig. 7). They were also found to be inhibitors of the jasmonic acid pathway (Christian Meesters and Mohamed Suliman; personal communication) (Table 2). Salicylic acid and jasmonic acid pathways in plants, have antagonistic functions (Spoel et. al., 2003; Mur et. al., 2006). Thus, monensin sodium salt and merbromin could possibly cause an inhibition of the jasmonic acid marker genes *VSP1* and *LOX2*, due to their activity on *FMO1*. However, it was important to identify whether the compounds had any effects on other major plant signalling pathways.



Figure 26: Effect of Monensin sodium salt and merbromin treatment on expression of marker genes of major plant signalling pathways. 13 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated for 24h with 1% DMSO or A: 10μ M monensin sodium salt and B: 20μ M merbromin. Activity of *FMO1*, *VSP1*, *PIN1*, and *RAB18* in chemical treated samples was normalized to that of the DMSO control samples. Gene expression is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation. Two independent experiments had similar results.

I tested the effect of treatment with monensin sodium salt and merbromin on the activation of the key marker genes in major plant signalling pathways. Compared to the increase in *FMO1* expression (>100-fold), there was little change (<5-fold increase) in the expression of *VSP1*, *PIN1* and *RAB18* which are marker genes for the jasmonic acid, auxin and abscisic acid signalling pathways, respectively. Thus, monensin sodium salt and merbromin seem to be selective activators of *FMO1* expression.

2.4.5 Analysis of changes in amino acid concentration

FMO1 expression is enhanced in systemic tissues during SAR in plants, which is characterised by perturbations in the amino acid content of the plants (Mishina and Zeier, 2006; Navarova et al., 2012). *A. thaliana* seedlings were treated with monensin sodium salt and merbromin for 24h and the seedlings were processed to extract amino acids. The amino acid content of the chemical and the control (1% DMSO), treated seedlings was compared. *A. thaliana* seedlings contained high levels of alanine, whereas all other amino acids were low. However, this is not specific to the treatment, but rather seems to be an artefact of the developmental stage of the plant (Limami et. al., 2008). Importantly, treatment with monensin sodium salt and merbromin did not result in an increase in amino acid content of *A. thaliana* seedlings, including that of the defence inducible amino acids like tyrosine, tryptophan, Pip and α -aminoadipic acid (Fig. 27). Thus, there does not seem to be a role of amino acid signalling in monensin sodium salt and merbromin-induced *FMO1* upregulation.



Figure 27: Effect of merbromin and monensin sodium salt treatment on free amino acid content of *Arabidopsis thaliana* **seedlings.** 14 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated for 24h with 1% DMSO or 300nM monensin sodium salt. The amino acids content of the seedlings was quantified using GC/MS and is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation.

2.4.6 Effect of monensin sodium salt and merbromin on defence gene expression

I had established that monensin sodium salt and merbromin act as an inducers of *FMO1* (Fig. 7). However, I also wanted to identify whether they act on *FMO1* alone, or also on other genes known to be dependent on *EDS1*/PAD4. I treated seedlings with monensin sodium salt and analysed the expression of genes known to be upstream or downstream of *FMO1* in the *EDS1*/PAD4 signalling pathway (Gruner et al., 2013).

qRT-PCR analysis of the treated seedlings revealed that, not only did the chemical treatments significantly increase expression of *EDS1* and its associated genes *PAD4* and *SAG101*, but they also led to upregulation (>20-fold) of other *EDS1* and *PAD4* dependent genes such as *ICS1* and *ALD1* (Fig. 28). Monensin sodium salt also caused a massive increase (>300-fold) in transcription of *PR1*, and thus, causes a strong transcriptional

upregulation of genes involved in resistance to pathogens. On the contrary, merbromin significantly induces expression of *EDS1*-dependent genes such as *PBS3*, and the SA-biosynthesis gene *ICS1*, but does not significantly increase expression of the SA-marker gene *PR1*. Therefore, merbromin activates *EDS1/PAD4* dependent signalling responses, but may cause blocking of signalling downstream of *ICS1*.



Figure 28: Effect of Monensin sodium salt and Merbromin on defence gene expression. 13 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated for 24h with 1% DMSO, A: 10µM monensin sodium salt or B: and C: 20 µM merbromin. Activity of indicated genes in the chemical-treated seedlings was normalized to that in the DMSO-treated seedlings. Gene expression is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation. Asterisks indicate significant differences compared to the DMSO control (Student's t-test ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05). Two independent experiments had similar results.

2.4.7 Monensin sodium salt, but not merbromin leads to an increase in salicylic acid

Monensin sodium salt and merbromin were proven to increase transcription of the SA synthesis gene, *ICS1* (Fig.28). Thus, it was hypothesised that the production of SA within the plant should increase after the chemical treatment.



Figure 29: Changes in free and total salicylic acid content of *Arabidopsis thaliana* seedlings due to monensin sodium salt and merbromin treatment. 14 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated for 24h with A: 300nM monensin sodium salt and B: 20 μ M merbromin. The negative controls were treatment with 1% DMSO or no treatment. The free and total salicylic acid content of the seedlings was quantified using GC/MS and is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation. Asterisks indicate significant differences compared to the DMSO control (Student's t-test ***p<0.001, **p<0.01). Two independent experiments gave similar results.

I treated *A. thaliana* seedlings with monensin sodium salt (300 nM) and merbromin (20 μ M) for 24h. The SA content of the seedlings was analysed after extraction according to a previously published protocol (Straus et. al., 2010). Treatment with monensin sodium salt caused a significant (4-fold) increase in both, the total and the free SA levels, as compared to the untreated and the DMSO control treatments (Fig. 29A). This increase in

the SA content of the plant also corresponds to the massive increase in transcription of *PR1* after treatment with monensin sodium salt. On the contrary, merbromin which enhances expression of the SA-biosynthesis gene *ICS1*, did not increase SA content in the treated seedlings. The absence of an increase in SA could account for the lack of upregulation of *PR1* expression by merbromin. This bolsters my hypothesis that merbromin could potentially cause a block in defence signalling, downstream of *ICS1*.

2.4.8 Role of monensin sodium salt and merbromin in other signalling pathways

Several genes which have a role in modulating *FMO1* expression, have been identified previously (Bartsch et. al., 2006; Mishina and Zeier, 2006; Navarova et. al., 2012). I wanted to identify whether activation of *FMO1* expression by monensin sodium salt and merbromin also involves these genes. Hence, I treated seedlings of different mutants in key genes related to *FMO1* and analysed the *FMO1* expression in these mutants. As in the case of thaxtomin A treatment, changes in *FMO1* expression was quantified as fold of *EXPR* expression.

Monensin sodium salt-induced expression of *FMO1* was independent of SA synthesis and signalling, with an increase in *FMO1* expression in the SA-mutants *sid2* and *sid2/npr1* after chemical treatment (Fig. 30A). The overall expression level of *FMO1* was low in the wild-type and mutant seedlings, even after chemical treatment (Fig. 30A). Hence, this experiment needs to be repeated for greater clarity about additional genes mediating monensin sodium salt-induced *FMO1* expression.



Figure 30: Monensin sodium salt and merbromin-induced *FMO1* expression in wild-type and mutant *Arabidopsis thaliana* seedlings. 13 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* wild-type Col-0 and the indicated mutant seedlings were treated for with 24h with 1% DMSO, **A:** 10 μ M monensin sodium salt, or **B:** 20 μ M merbromin. Expression of *FMO1*, relative to *EXPR* expression, is shown as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation. Two independent experiments showed similar results.

Merbromin-induced *FMO1* expression was dependent on *EDS1*, and was independent of *SID2* and *ALD1* (Fig. 30B). The lack of dependence on *ALD1*, together with unchanged Pip content in merbromin-treated *A. thaliana* seedlings suggests that merbromin-induced *FMO1* expression, unlike *FMO1* expression during SAR is not mediated by Pip and *ALD1*. Thus, merbromin- and monensin sodium salt-induced *FMO1* expression is independent of SA, confirming previously published reports about *FMO1* (Bartsch et al., 2006; Mishina and Zeier, 2006).

3 Discussion

3.1 Primary screening and hit selection

For a good inhibitor screen, one needs a high difference between the negative and positive controls. The higher the difference between the absolute values and lower the variation (standard deviation), the easier it is to clearly distinguish inhibitors from amongst a whole library of chemicals. The high difference between the controls also makes it easier to identify intermediate hits, which mildly reduce activity of the positive control. However, in the screen for inhibitors of FMO1-YFP, the positive control could only increase YFP fluorescence to about 3-fold of the negative control activity. The inhibitor screen revealed that the chemicals tested did not clearly reduce YFP fluorescence, and it remained within the zone of standard deviation of the positive control (Fig. 4). Hence, I could not successfully identify any inhibitors of FMO1-YFP.

The hunt for activators also faced problems due to the low difference (3-fold) in FMO1-YFP fluorescence values between the controls (Fig. 1). The time point selected for the screen was later than the reported timeline for *FMO1* expression (Bartsch et al., 2006; Mishina and Zeier, 2006). However, chemical induced *FMO1* expression was demonstrated to increase from 2 days post treatment, with a maximum at 4 days post treatment (Olszak et al., 2006). Since I was using a chemical inducer, fumonisin B1 (FB1), reported in the same publication, the timeline was thought to be appropriate. As an additional proof, the YFP fluorescence emitted from the seedlings was also visualised at the same time point, 4 days post treatment, under a confocal microscope. Fluorescence microscopy confirmed that FB1 treatment enhanced YFP fluorescence in *A. thaliana pFMO1*::FMO1:YFP seedlings.

Cantharidin and methotrexat were identified twice from different libraries, which confirmed their stable activity under the screening conditions. The fact that known activators of *FMO1*, such as methyl viologen and cycloheximide (Arabidopsis EfP browser-Winter et al., 2007) were identified, was proof of principle for the activator screen. However, there is another aspect to the detection of cycloheximide as an activator of *FMO1*. Cycloheximide inhibits protein synthesis (Lüttge et al., 1974) and thus, leads to cell

death. FMO1 is tightly linked to cell death in plants (Olszak et al., 2006). A large number of compounds used for screening, including the positive control FB1, were phytotoxic, and induced cell death in the plants after 6 days of incubation (Stone et al., 2000). Cell death produces auto-fluorescence in the plants, which can be detected at the same wavelength as YFP fluorescence. Hence, this created the possibility of selecting several false hits, which would cause cell death in the plants, but not induce FMO-YFP. This made the stringent rescreening I used essential for confirmation of activators. Hence, every compound which increased activity to more than the standard deviation of the negative control was rescreened. This low threshold helped to identify several activators which might have been missed otherwise.

Programmed cell death reduces the pH inside the plant cells, which quenches YFP fluorescence (Young et al., 2010). This could possibly be a reason behind the low YFP activity observed in our screen. Since *FMO1* is linked to cell death, an activator of *FMO1* could potentially induce cell death after 6 days of treatment, and thus quench the YFP signal, making it harder to identify hits.

In retrospect, it might have been faster and more convenient to perform the screen with another reporter tagged to FMO1, but the current screen also was successful at identifying chemicals with a hitherto unknown activity on *FMO1* expression. In this sense, the original aim of this project was achieved. However, perhaps a modified screen would have been successful at identifying inhibitors of FMO1 and increasing the hit rate of the activator screen from the current 0.87%. However, the hit rate may also be linked to the composition of the library used for screening. In this project, small hand-selected libraries had a higher hit rate (2.8%) than the large Prestwick chemical library (0.5%), which mainly comprised of human drugs selected for high chemical and pharmacological diversity. A small kinase-inhibitor library also had a high hit rate (3.75%), possibly due to the ubiquity of kinase involvement in several signalling pathways.

The data from the initial activator screen was scrutinized, and several analysis methods were applied, to prevent intermediate hits from falling between the cracks. A graph was made for every screening plate, inclusive of the positive and negative control values for that plate. Each data point was considered in relation to the controls, and the standard deviation of the control values. Every chemical with an average data value equal

to or more than twice the standard deviation of the negative control was selected for rescreening.

I also utilized another analysis method, wherein the individual compound values were normalised to the average value of their screening plate. A threshold of 1.5 times the average plate values was set and all compounds with a mean value at or above this threshold were rescreened. A graph utilising this normalisation technique is depicted in Fig. 3 and Fig. 4.

The third method employed for selection of candidate activators utilised the so-called Z score (Malo et al., 2006). The Z score considers the variation in the measurements of the readout while normalizing the data and thus adds a higher degree of confidence to candidate selection. The average of the whole screening plate is compared to individual compound measurements, since a majority of compounds are expected to be inactive, and thus can function as controls.

The candidates selected via all three statistical methods were pooled together to make a list of compounds for rescreening. Although most of the candidates could be picked from any of the three methods employed, a few were unique to only one of these techniques. Thus, I utilised three different methods for analysis of the primary screen data, to prevent missing out on false negatives in the screen.

The western blot after a time-course assay (data not shown) revealed that FMO1-YFP accumulation was maximum at 24h post treatment. This time point also coincided with the observed maxima of *FMO1* expression. However, FMO1-YFP accumulation could not be detected in plants, after 4 days of treatment with chemicals. This observation contradicts the time line of maximum FMO1-YFP fluorescence activity in the primary screen. This data again points to the role of cell-death induced auto-fluorescence interfering with the actual YFP fluorescence in the primary screen. However, this very screen was successful in the goal of identifying chemical activators of FMO1-YFP.

One hypothesis to explain this time of accumulation is that, activators of FMO1-YFP produce an increase in fluorescence, one day post treatment, but this fluorescence may be too low to detect in our experimental setup. The chemical upregulation of *FMO1* expression, which has been linked to programmed cell death (Olszak et al., 2006) might

increase auto-fluorescence in the seedlings, thus boosting the total fluorescence readout after 6 days of treatment. Hence, activators of *FMO1* expression, along with cell-death inducers such as cycloheximide and methotrexate were selected from the primary screen.

Ultimately, the screen for activators of FMO1-YFP was successful, and I could identify 5 chemicals increasing expression of FMO1. Since staurosporine and 5-iodotubercidin were general kinase inhibitors, and are likely to be involved in perturbations of several plant signalling pathways (Massillon et al., 1994; Meggio et al., 1995), I only focused on three chemicals for subsequent analysis of their role in *FMO1* upregulation. The three selected chemicals are: thaxtomin A, merbromin and monensin sodium salt.

Determination of the concentration dependence of these chemicals in various bioassays, revealed that activator concentrations which greatly increase FMO1 expression (Figs. 8, 22), also cause severe retardation of germination and growth in the seedlings (Figs. 10, 23). While all three selected activator chemicals have a known cytotoxic effect (Duval et al., 2005; Gores et al., 1988; Puerner & Siegel, 1972), the loss of seedling viability may also be a contribution of sustained high expression of *FMO1*, since *FMO1* has been linked to programmed cell death (Olszak et al., 2006). Additionally, since thaxtomin A is a cellulose synthesis inhibitor (Scheible et al., 2003), and thaxtomin A treatment also increases cell death in *A. thaliana* over time (Duval et al., 2005), it can explain the stunted growth and death observed in thaxtomin A-treated seedlings in the germination and growth assay (Fig. 10).

3.2 Origin and activity of thaxtomin A: a potent FMO1 inducer

In this study, thaxtomin A was found to be a potent activator of *FMO1*, also causing significant increases in the expression of several other defence-related genes. Determining the concentration dependence revealed that *FMO1* expression can be significantly induced by thaxtomin A, even at nanomolar concentrations (Fig. 8), with maximum expression at 24h post treatment (Fig. 9). For ease of use and to evoke a consistent response, treatment for 24h with 100nM thaxtomin A was used for all subsequent experiments.

Thaxtomin A is a phytotoxin secreted by several species of the gram-positive filamentous bacteria in the genus *Streptomyces*, including *S. scabies*, *S. acidiscabies*, and *S. turgidiscabies* (King et al., 1989; Loria et al., 1995). Thaxtomin A causes scab disease in potatoes and other taproot crops like turnip and radish (Lawrence et al., 1990; King et al., 1991; King et al., 1992; Loria et al., 1997). Scab disease has a major economic impact on worldwide potato production (Lambert and Loria, 1989; Loria et al., 2006). The pathogenicity of various *S. scabies* isolates is positively correlated to their ability to produce thaxtomin A (King et al., 1991; Loria et al., 1995; Goyer et al., 1998; Kinkel et al., 1998), and thaxtomin A is responsible for the formation of scab-like lesions on the potato tuber, which are characteristic of the disease (King et al., 1991; Goyer et al., 1998).

Thaxtomin A causes reduced seedling growth, dramatic cell swelling, and inhibition of cellulose synthesis in *A. thaliana*, even at nanomolar concentrations (Scheible et al., 2003). The same group later discovered that thaxtomin A reduces crystalline cellulose and increases pectins and hemicellulose in the cell wall. Like the cellulose-synthase inhibitor isoxaben, thaxtomin A also changes the expression of genes involved in primary and secondary cellulose synthesis as well as genes associated with pectin metabolism and cell wall remodelling (Bischoff et al., 2009). Defects in cell wall integrity and callose deposition have been shown to trigger defence responses in plants (Cano-Delgado et al., 2003; Hernández-Blanco et al., 2007).

Hence, plants were treated with the cellulose synthesis inhibitor isoxaben, to determine whether thaxtomin A-induced *FMO1* expression is a consequence of its action on the cell wall. Comparison of *FMO1* expression in thaxtomin A-treated plants versus isoxaben-treated plants revealed that while isoxaben does lead to mild (10-fold) accumulation of *FMO1* mRNA, thaxtomin A has a far more potent effect on *FMO1* with a 50-fold increase in expression (Fig. 17). Previous studies have also confirmed that thaxtomin A has a greater effect on defence gene expression, as compared to isoxaben (Bischoff et al., 2009). The concentration of isoxaben and thaxtomin A used for the treatment was comparable for their effect on cellulose synthesis inhibition (Desprez et al., 2002; Scheible et al., 2003; Bischoff et al., 2009). Therefore, *FMO1* expression is not merely a result of perturbations in the cell wall structure and integrity, but thaxtomin A

seems to have a role in plant defence signalling that is unique from the cellulose synthesis inhibitor isoxaben.

Previous reports indicated that application of 200nM thaxtomin to *A. thaliana* seedlings for 48h can induce expression of the JA marker genes *VSP1* and *VSP2* (Bischoff et al., 2009). However, the thaxtomin A producing *S. scabies* did not alter JA-related gene expression in potato plants (Arseneault et al., 2014). Additionally, in my experiments, 100nM thaxtomin A did not have a significant effect on expression of the JA-marker gene *VSP1*. Expression of the abscisic acid marker gene *RAB18*, and the auxin marker gene *PIN1* was also not enhanced (Fig. 16). Therefore, thaxtomin A seems to have a specific effect on activation of *FMO1*-related defence signalling.

3.2.1 Structure-activity relationship of thaxtomin A bioactivity

Thaxtomin A production by *S. scabies* is correlated to its pathogenicity on potato plants in scab disease development, and is responsible for development of necrotic scab-like lesions on the potato tubers (King et al., 1991; Loria et al., 1995; Goyer et al., 1998; Kinkel et al., 1998). The 4-nitrotryptophan and phenylalanine groups in thaxtomin A were deemed important for its phytotoxicity (King et al., 1992). Glucosylation of thaxtomin A by *Bacillus mycoides* ameliorated its toxicity, and potato tuber necrosis was reduced by more than 80% (King et al., 2000). Glucosylation of thaxtomin A occurred at the C-14 hydroxyl group, and not at the more reactive C-20 phenolic group, as might have been expected (King et al., 2000). Thaxtomin A (Fig. 3.1 A) also undergoes in vitro glucosylation in *S. scabies* to form thaxtomin A-di-glucoside (TAG) (Acuna et al., 2001). TAG (Fig. 3.1 B) fails to produce thaxtomin A-like necrosis symptoms on potato tubers. Inoculation of potato tubers with ¹⁴C-radiolabelled thaxtomin A revealed that scab-resistant potato cultivars have the ability to glucosylate thaxtomin A, while scab-susceptible cultivars do not. Thus, glucose conjugation is a method of thaxtomin A detoxification in potato plants and plays an important role in resistance to scab disease.

Thaxtomin C (Fig. 3.1 C) is a precursor of thaxtomin A, and was also isolated from *Streptomyces* species (King et al., 1994). Thaxtomin C induces soil rot in sweet potatoes and causes necrosis in root tissue (Guan et al., 2012). It is structurally similar to thaxtomin
A, and the structural domains deemed important for bioactivity are intact (King et al., 1992). Application of thaxtomin C to *A. thaliana* seedlings also significantly increases FMO1 expression, albeit to a lower extent than thaxtomin A.

Identification of a direct target of a compound, and its mode of action, is the ultimate goal of a chemical biology approach. A popular technique to identify direct protein targets of a chemical is to attach an alkyne group to the chemical, which enables subsequent labelling of the protein-compound complex via the so-called 'click-chemistry' (Speers et al., 2003). Fluorescent labelling of a compound enables localisation of the compound and potentially of the compound-protein complex within an organism. Hence, thaxtomin A with an alkyne or a rhodamine label was applied to A. thaliana seedlings and FMO1 expression was quantified. The labels were attached by substituting the phenolic –OH group, which was shown to be dispensable by the comparison of FMO1 expression between thaxtomin A, and thaxtomin C, which lacks the aforementioned –OH moiety. Rhodamine-labelled thaxtomin A, but not alkyne-labelled thaxtomin A, could significantly induce FMO1 (Fig. 15). This difference in activity between the two thaxtomin A derivatives could possibly be due to a difference in charge distribution. However, this data needs to be confirmed with freshly synthesised thaxtomin A derivatives before drawing conclusions. Microscopic analysis of treated A. thaliana seedlings indicated that rhodamine-labelled thaxtomin A could be easily taken up, because it was clearly detectable within the cells of all tissues (data not shown).



Fig 31: Structure of thaxtomin A (A), thaxtomin A-di-glucoside (TAG) (B) (Acuna et al., 2001) and thaxtomin C (C)

3.2.2 Auxin inhibits thaxtomin A-induced FMO1

Several greenhouse and field trials established that foliar treatment of potato plants with the synthetic auxin 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) reduced common scab on the harvested tubers (McIntosh et al., 1982; McIntosh et al., 1985; McIntosh et al., 1988; Thompson et al., 2014). 2,4-D treatment reduced scab disease symptoms and the harvested potato tubers had decreased sensitivity to thaxtomin A, with a reduction in thaxtomin A-induced necrosis. In *Arabidopsis thaliana*, thaxtomin A–induced chlorosis and seedling death was also reduced by the 2,4-D treatment (Tegg et al., 2008). Monitoring of *FMO1* expression after thaxtomin A-induced *FMO1* expression (Supp. Fig. 1). This result is intriguing because it raises the question whether reduction in necrotic cell death due to 2,4-D application leads to inhibition of *FMO1*, or whether the reduced *FMO1* expression causes inhibition of cell death and necrotic scabs.

It is also possible that the reduced *FMO1* expression is due to crosstalk between auxin and *EDS1/PAD4* dependent signalling pathways. Overexpression of the *FMO*-like *YUCCA* genes leads to overproduction of auxin in several plant species (Zhao et al., 2001; Tobeña-Santamaria et al., 2002; Expósito-Rodríguez et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2012). The YUCCA protein YUC6 has been implicated in auxin biosynthesis by converting indole-3-pyruvate (IPA) to indole-3-acetate (IAA) (Dai et al., 2013). Salicylic acid (SA) causes stabilization of the Aux/IAA repressor proteins due to global repression of auxin-related genes, including the gene encoding the TIR1 receptor. This inhibitory effect of SA on auxin responses is a part of the SA-mediated disease resistance mechanism (Wang et al., 2007). Application of 100nM thaxtomin A reduced expression of the auxin marker gene *PIN1* about three-fold. However, treatment with IAA increases *EDS1* expression (Arabidopsis eFP Browser-Winter et al., 2007). This data raised intriguing questions about the involvement of auxin signalling in modification of *FMO1* activity. However, they were beyond the scope of this project, and hence, were not addressed and explored further.

3.2.3 FMO1 expression in plants: at death's door?

One of the first studies on *FMO1* dealt with its role in programmed cell death. *FMO1* was initially identified as a gene upregulated in the *Arabidopsis thaliana acd11* mutant, which constitutively activates *EDS1*, *PAD4* and SA-dependent PCD and defence (Olszak et al., 2006). *FMO1* was also found to be expressed during developmental senescence, infection by avirulent and virulent bacteria, and in response to the cell-death inducing chemicals FB1 and rose bengal (RB) (Olszak et al., 2006). Although in all the above cases *FMO1* expression occurred in the region of senescence/HR-like lesions, it does not resolve whether *FMO1* expression has a role in cell death initiation or execution or whether it is a symptom of cell death.

In the current study, several cell death inducers were also identified as activators of *FMO1* expression in the activator screen. One rationale for this could be that the primary screening conditions were such that they cell death-inducers could be selected as putative hits, since cell death-induced auto-fluorescence overlapped with the targeted YFP signals. However, secondary screens eliminated these false hits and only compounds activating *FMO1* expression were selected. These confirmed inducers of *FMO1* expression such as thaxtomin A, merbromin and monensin sodium salt have also been linked to cell death induction (Puerner and Siegel, 1972; Gores et al., 1988; Duval et al., 2005). These results, therefore hint at underlying ties between cell death and *FMO1* expression.

Thaxtomin A has been reported to induce PCD in *A. thaliana* cell culture. The lowest concentration of thaxtomin A tested, 500nM, lead to a 25% cell death rate after 24h, as compared to a 12% cell death rate in the control at the same time point (Duval et al., 2005). In the current study, *A. thaliana* seedlings were treated with a maximum concentration of 100nM thaxtomin A for 24h, which is 5-fold lower than that used by Duval et al (2005). Therefore, I hypothesise that there would only be a minor increase in PCD due to thaxtomin A treatment in this study. However, this needs to be confirmed with a cell death assay under my experimental conditions.

One rationale behind identifying a chemical inducer of *FMO1* was that it would help us dissect the complex interplay between *FMO1* and cell death activation in plants and identify components mediating *FMO1* expression. Induction of *FMO1* by chemical treatment would identify whether *FMO1* alone could trigger plant cell death. However, none of the *FMO1* activators identified in this study have been proven to act exclusively on *FMO1* expression. Additionally, other studies have found them to be involved in cell death induction (Puerner and Siegel, 1972; Gores et al., 1988; Duval et al., 2005). Hence they cannot, at present, be used to investigate *FMO1*-cell death interactions. One way to resolve this question is to control *FMO1* expression with an inducible promoter, such as promoters responsive to dexamethasone, ethanol, tetracycline, etc. (Schena et al., 1991; Moore et al., 2006). This would create a clean system wherein all parameters except *FMO1* expression would be unchanged, which can then be used to monitor cell death induction as compared to that in a dexamethasone-treated wild-type plants.

3.2.4 Positioning thaxtomin A activity within the signalling network

Thaxtomin A was apparently not involved in early defence responses such as ROS production, MAPK activation, and intracellular calcium spiking (Fig. 11, 12, 13). Hence, it was hypothesised that thaxtomin A acts on defence gene transcription without the involvement of the aforementioned signalling cascades. Previous reports suggest that thaxtomin A can induce defence responses in A. thaliana (Errakhi et al., 2008; Bischoff et al., 2009; Duval and Beaudoin, 2009). Multiple studies on this subject produced conflicting results (Duval et al., 2005; Errakhi et al., 2008; Bischoff et al., 2009). Thaxtomin A was found to increase expression of the SA-marker gene PR1 (Bischoff et al., 2009), whereas other studies (Duval et al., 2005; Errakhi et al., 2008) found no evidence of thaxtomin Ainduced increase in PR1 expression. In the current work, Thaxtomin A (100nM) was found to strongly activate (140-fold) PR1 expression (Fig. 19). Application of the thaxtomin Aproducing S. scabies to potato plants was also proven to upregulate expression of the SArelated genes PR-1b, PR-2 and PR-5 (Arseneault et al., 2014). Duval et al(2005) and Errakhi et al(2008) had used 2μ M and 10μ M thaxtomin A respectively, for their experiments, which is 20-100 times more concentrated than the thaxtomin A used in this study. Thus, thaxtomin A-induced PR1 expression could be concentration dependent. 2µM and 10µM thaxtomin A were also found to produce 40-50% cell death in A. thaliana cell culture

(Duval et al., 2005), and this could also contribute to the lack of *PR1* induction by thaxtomin A.

Several independent studies have established that during local defence responses in plants, *FMO1* expression is independent of SA production and signalling (Bartsch et al., 2006; Gruner et al., 2013; Koch et al., 2006; Mishina & Zeier, 2006; Olszak et al., 2006). Thaxtomin A-induced *FMO1* was proven to be independent from SA signalling by monitoring expression in the *A. thaliana salicylic acid deficient2 (sid2)* mutant seedlings. Pathogen-induced *FMO1* expression does not trigger SA accumulation in basal defence, but is crucial for SA production and signalling in systemic tissue during SAR (Bartsch et al., 2006; Mishina and Zeier, 2006). Thaxtomin A triggered a 4-5-fold increase in free and total SA levels in wild-type *Arabidopsis thaliana*. This also corresponds to the increase in expression of the SA-marker gene *PR1* after thaxtomin A application.

Since pipecolic acid (Pip) has been shown to be an important defence signal leading to *FMO1* activation during SAR (Navarova et al., 2012), I measured Pip levels by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC/MS) in activator-treated plants. However, there was no obvious change in the Pip content of the treated plants as compared to the control plants. This data corresponds to the wild type-like thaxtomin A-induced increase in *FMO1* expression in the A. thaliana *ald1* mutant, which is defective in Pip accumulation. Thus, thaxtomin A treatment does not trigger Pip production in plants, and thaxtomin A-induced *FMO1* upregulation is not dependent on *ALD1*. However, thaxtomin A treatment leads to an increase in *PAD4* expression, and *P. syringae*-induced *ALD1* expression and Pip production in systemic tissues is dependent on *PAD4* (Mishina and Zeier, 2006). Thus, the increase in *ALD1* expression after thaxtomin A treatment can be linked to enhanced *PAD4* activity in the treated plants.

Pathogen-induced *FMO1* expression is controlled by *EDS1* and *PAD4* (Bartsch et al., 2006). Notably, thaxtomin A-induced *FMO1* is also completely dependent on *EDS1* and *PAD4*, but independent of *SAG101* (Fig. 18). *EDS1* is known to form structurally similar heterodimers with *PAD4* and *SAG101*, leading to downstream defence signalling cascades (Wagner et al., 2013). However, if both the heterodimers use similar or different pathways is currently unknown. In the case of thaxtomin A treatment, the *EDS1-PAD4* heterodimer, but not the *EDS1-SAG101* heterodimer, might be crucial for *FMO1* activity. Hence, the

dimers formed between *EDS1* and its interaction partners *PAD4* and *SAG101* may have distinct roles in plant defence signalling. Thaxtomin A can thus be a useful tool to functionally investigate the dimers formed between *EDS1* and its interaction partners, *PAD4* and *SAG101*.

EDS1 and PAD4, amongst other genes, are significantly upregulated in response to thaxtomin A (Fig. 19). This shifted the focus of thaxtomin A activity to a potential target upstream of FMO1, and it gave rise to the hypothesis that thaxtomin A targets the signalling pathway upstream of, or directly at EDS1-PAD4. This makes thaxtomin A a potential tool to probe the dynamics of the EDS1-PAD4 signalling mechanism. Additional analyses with mutants in EDS1 and PAD4 revealed that thaxtomin A-induced PAD4 expression is partially EDS1-independent (Fig. 20). However, EDS1 cannot be upregulated by thaxtomin A in the absence of PAD4. Therefore, thaxtomin A actively drives PAD4 expression. The enhanced EDS1 expression in A. thaliana wild-type seedlings upon thaxtomin A treatment might be due to a feedback mechanism of PAD4-controlled defence signalling. In the A. thaliana eds1^{L262P} mutant, the interaction between EDS1 and PAD4 is impaired and formation of an EDS1-PAD4 protein heterodimer is prevented, while interaction with SAG101 is retained. Surprisingly, thaxtomin A treatment significantly enhanced FMO1 expression in the A. thaliana eds1^{L262P} mutants (Fig. 21). This observation indicates that PAD4 may act independently of EDS1 to drive FMO1 expression, similar to previous reports describing the independence of PAD4 from EDS1 in certain defence processes (Pegadaraju et al., 2007; Rietz et al., 2011; Louis et al., 2012). However, the presence of both, EDS1 and PAD4, is essential for maximum possible upregulation of FMO1 expression by thaxtomin A.

3.3 Merbromin and monensin sodium salt induce FMO1 expression

Two additional chemicals, merbromin and monensin sodium salt, were also identified as activators of *FMO1* expression during the library screening. Merbromin is produced and used globally as an antiseptic under the trademark 'mercurochrome'. It is a xanthene dye and acts as a photosensitizer for the generation of singlet oxygen (Gollnick et al., 1992; Martínez et al., 1993). Interestingly, another xanthene dye, rose bengal (RB), has also been proven to upregulate *FMO1* in *A. thaliana*. Shikimate dehydrogenase is a conserved and essential enzyme in plants, fungi, and bacteria, and hence, is an attractive target for herbicides and antimicrobial agents. A recent study discovered that merbromin is an inhibitor of the shikimate dehydrogenase enzyme from the bacterium, *Pseudomonas putida* (Peek et al., 2014).

The third chemical activator of *FMO1* expression, monensin sodium salt, is derived from *Streptomyces cinnamonensis* (Westley, 1982) and is a monovalent cation ionophore which facilitates the exchange of Na+, K+ and protons across membranes and thus affects the acidification of cellular compartments (Pressman and Fahim, 1982). It has been used extensively to analyse the function of the Golgi apparatus in a variety of animal and plant systems. Ultrastructure studies indicate that monensin causes accumulation of Golgiderived swollen vesicles in the cytoplasm of treated plant cells (Morré et al., 1983; Mollenhauer et al., 1988; Zhang et al., 1993).

However, there has not been any substantial research into the interactions between plants and merbromin and monensin sodium salt in the past decade. To my knowledge, this is the first report about the involvement of merbromin and monensin sodium salt in plant defence signalling.

Merbromin and monensin sodium salt were found to activate *FMO1* expression in a chemical screen for activators of FMO1-YFP. Both chemicals showed a concentration dependent effect on *FMO1* expression. The EC₅₀ value was calculated to be 1 μ M for monensin sodium salt and 10 μ M for merbromin. Interestingly, monensin sodium salt drastically affects growth and germination at concentrations exceeding EC₅₀ value (1 μ M), and growth of *A. thaliana* seedlings was completely blocked at 10 μ M. This inhibition could be linked to cytotoxic effects of the induced *FMO1*-expression in these seedlings (Olszak et al., 2006). Likewise, 10 μ M monensin was also shown to inhibit the germination and growth of ryegrass seedlings (Mollenhauer et al., 1986). Merbromin, in a concentration dependent manner, also impaired germination and growth of *A. thaliana* seedlings grew normally in 1 μ M merbromin, but at higher concentrations, growth was inhibited, and germination and growth were completely

blocked at 100µM merbromin. Thus, the growth of *A. thaliana* seedlings is repressed at a chemical concentration proven to induce strong *FMO1* expression.

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are signalling molecules that accumulate rapidly in response to pathogen infection. The superoxide producer RB has previously been found to induce *FMO1* expression (Olszak et al., 2006). Prolonged activation of MAPK signalling cascades has also been shown to upregulate *FMO1* (Tsuda et al., 2013). Hence, I tested ROS production and MAPK activation in seedlings after merbromin and monensin sodium salt application. Like in the case of thaxtomin A, merbromin did not activate MAPK and ROS production (Fig. 24, 25), and thus, these processes do not mediate merbromin-induced *FMO1* expression. However, monensin sodium salt had no effect on ROS production, but induced accumulation of phosphorylated MPK6 and MPK3. Thus, monensin sodium salt-induced MAPK activation could possibly mediate enhanced expression of FMO1 in *A. thaliana* seedlings.

Evaluation of the specificity of merbromin and monensin sodium salt activity on *EDS1/PAD4* dependent signalling revealed that while both chemicals strongly induced *FMO1* expression (>100-fold), they have a negligible effect on the JA-marker gene *VSP1* and the abscisic acid marker gene *RAB18* (<5-fold). Previous experiments in our laboratory indicate that merbromin and monensin sodium salt act as inhibitors of JA signalling, while they have no effect on intracellular calcium signalling (Christian Meesters, Mohamed Suliman and Jens Maintz; personal communication). Inhibition of JA-mediated processes by an activator of *EDS1/PAD4*-dependent signalling is possible due to the antagonistic nature of SA and JA signalling pathways (Spoel et al., 2003; Koornneef and Pieterse, 2008).

Since Pip was deemed to be an important signal in SAR reactions, responsible for triggering *FMO1* expression (Návarová et al., 2012), I also analysed the amino acid content of merbromin and monensin sodium salt treated plants. However, there was no effect of the chemical treatment on the levels of defence-inducible amino acids such as Pip and α -aminoadipic acid (Fig. 27). Thus, induced expression of *FMO1* by selected chemical activators is not mediated by perturbations of amino acid content of the plants.

The effect of chemical treatment on genes known to be involved in the *EDS1/PAD4* pathway was analysed to identify the potential target site/location of chemical activity

within the signalling pathway. Both monensin sodium salt and merbromin significantly upregulated expression of *EDS1*, and its signalling partners, *PAD4* and *SAG101*. The activity of genes known to be dependent on *EDS1/PAD4* such as *ICS1*, *ALD1* and *PBS3* was also significantly enhanced (Fig. 28). Thus, both these chemicals act upstream of *FMO1* and drive its expression. Application of monensin sodium salt increased *FMO1* expression in the SA-defective A. *thaliana* mutants, *sid2* and *sid2/npr1* (Fig. 30A). This provides additional proof for previously published reports about the SA-independence of *FMO1* expression (Bartsch et al., 2006; Gruner et al., 2013; Koch et al., 2006; Mishina & Zeier, 2006; Olszak et al., 2006). However, treatment of other signalling mutants with monensin did not modulate FMO1 expression. Merbromin treatment of mutant and wild-type *A. thaliana* seedlings revealed that merbromin-induced *FMO1* expression is independent of *ICS1* and *ALD1*, and is partially dependent on *EDS1* (Fig. 30B). Therefore, I unfortunately cannot draw any conclusions about the dependence of merbromin and monensin sodium salt-induced *FMO1* expression on other genes in the *EDS1/PAD4* pathway.

Pathogen-induced *FMO1* expression is crucial for SA production and signalling in systemic tissue during SAR (Mishina & Zeier, 2006). Monensin sodium salt also promotes SA accumulation and leads to a 4-5-fold increase in free and total SA levels in treated plants. This also corresponds to the increase in expression of the SA synthesis gene *ICS1*, and the SA-marker gene *PR1* in monensin sodium salt-treated plants. Monensin sodium salt was found to be a mild inhibitor of PR1 in a screen for PR1-GUS inhibitors (Vivek Halder; personal communication). However, that data was only semi-quantitative, and the current study has proved on several fronts that monensin sodium salt is involved in upregulating SA signalling. Merbromin, on the other hand, has quite an intriguing role in SA signalling. It can significantly upregulate expression of the SA-biosynthesis gene *ICS1*, but not of the SA-marker gene *PR1* (Fig. 28B). There was also no increase in free and total SA content of the plant after treatment with merbromin (Fig. 29B). Hence, merbromin could activate expression of all genes in the *EDS1/PAD4* pathway, but potentially block signalling downstream of *ICS1*, causing a lack of increase in SA accumulation and SA-dependent signalling.

Thus, merbromin and monensin sodium salt have been proven to be chemical inducers of the EDS1/PAD4 defence signalling pathway, and can be used as tools to analyse the activity of genes in this pathway.

3.4 Concluding Remarks

I established and performed a chemical screen for activators and inhibitors of FMO1 expression. The primary screen and stringent secondary screening yielded five chemicals significantly increasing FMO1 expression. Three candidate compounds, namely, thaxtomin A, merbromin and monensin sodium salt, were selected for additional analyses. All three candidate compounds did not enhance expression of marker genes of other major plant signalling pathways, and are selective activators of EDS1/PAD4 dependent signalling. Merbromin is a strong activator of EDS1-dependent gene expression, but possibly blocks signalling downstream of ICS1. Monensin sodium salt triggers MAPK activation, which could play a role in upregulation of FMO1 expression in monensin sodium salt-treated A. thaliana seedlings. Thaxtomin A is a potent activator of FMO1 expression, and selectively acts on PAD4 expression, thus driving defence signalling downstream of EDS1/PAD4. Interesting parallels can be drawn between pathogen- and chemical-induction of EDS1/PAD4 dependent defence responses in plants. Thaxtomin A treatment could potentially mimic pathogen infection in plants, thus triggering significant transcriptional changes in defence gene expression. However, all the experiments in this study used A. thaliana seedlings in liquid culture enhanced with activator chemicals. Additional experiments are needed to determine whether application of thaxtomin A on soil-grown A. thaliana plants can trigger similar defence responses. If soil-grown plants respond to thaxtomin A treatment in in a similar manner to the seedlings, further experiments can be developed to test microbial interactions with thaxtomin A-treated plants. A potential decrease in pathogen activity and disease symptoms after infection of thaxtomin A-treated plants would be proof of the biological role of thaxtomin A in plant immunity.

Overall, the screen was successful in its main goal of identifying chemical modulators of *FMO1* expression. These candidate chemicals can be useful tools for dissection of *FMO1*-related defence responses, for identification of new components involved in modulation of *EDS1*-dependent, SA-independent signalling.

5 Materials & methods

5.1 Materials

5.1.1 Plant materials

Arabidopsis thaliana ecotype, mutant lines and transgenic lines used in this study are listed in Table 5.1, 5.2 and 5.3.

Table 5.1: Wild type Arabidopsis lines used in this study

Accession	Abbreviation	Original Source
Columbia	Col-0	J. Dangl ^a

^aUniversity of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC, USA

Table 5.2: Mutant Arabidopsis lines used in this study

Mutant allele	Accession	Reference/Source
eds1-2	Col-0/ Ler0 ^a	Bartsch et al., 2006
pad4-1	Col-0	Glazebrook et al., 1996
ald1	Col-0	Návarová et al., 2012
sid2-1	Col-0	Wildermuth et al., 2001
sag101-1	Col-0	Feys et al., 2005
pad4-1/sag101-1	Col-0	Feys et al., 2005

^a Ler *eds1-2* allele introgressed into Col-0 genetic background, 8th backcross generation

Line	Construct	Reference/Source
FMO1-YFP	<i>pFMO1</i> ::FMO1-YFP	Michael Bartsch ^a
FM01-GUS	pFMO1::GUS	Olszak et al., 2006
EDS1 ^{L262P}	HA:eds1L262P	Rietz et al., 2011

Table 5.3: Transgenic Arabidopsis lines used in this study

^aMax Planck Institute for Plant Breeding Research, Cologne, Germany

5.1.2 Chemicals

Laboratory grade chemicals and reagents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Deisenhofen, Germany), Roth (Karlsruhe, Germany), Merck (Darmstadt, Germany), Invitrogen[™] (Karlsruhe, Germany), Bio-Rad (Hercules, USA), SYNCHEM OHG (Felsberg/Altenburg, Germany).

The following chemical libraries were used:

- Hand-selected libraries (204 compounds, 10mM)

- Prestwick chemical library (1,280 compounds, 10 mM) (Prestwick Chemical, Illkirch, France)

- Kinase inhibitor library (84 compounds, 2 mM) (Biomol GmbH, Hamburg, Germany)

5.1.3 Media

Media were sterilized by autoclaving for 20 min at 121°C. Before addition of heat labile compounds the media or solutions were cooled to approx. 60°C.

MS medium: 1/2× Murashige and Skoog Basal Salt Mixture (Sigma-Aldrich)

0.5% (w/v) Sucrose 4 g/L Phytagel (Sigma-Aldrich) for solid medium pH 5.8

5.1.4 Buffers and solutions

Buffers were sterilized by autoclaving for 20 min at 121°C if needed sterile. Before addition of heat labile compounds, the media were cooled to approx. 60°C. Stock solutions of compounds for plant treatment were dissolved in DMSO at 10 mM concentration, if not stated otherwise.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Maintenance and cultivation of Arabidopsis plants

Arabidopsis thaliana seeds were germinated by directly sowing them on moist compost (Stender AG, Schermbeck, Germany) supplemented with Wuxal fertilizer (Nitzsch; Kreuztal, Germany). Pots were transferred to a controlled environment growth chamber, covered with a propagator lid (10 hour photoperiod, light intensity of approximately 200 µEinsteins/m/sec, 23°C day, 22°C night and 65% humidity). Propagator lids were removed when seeds had germinated. To allow early bolting and setting of seeds, 4 week old plants were transferred to long day conditions (16 hour photoperiod). Seeds were collected by enveloping aerial tissue with a sealed paper bag until siliques were shattered.

5.2.2 Chemical treatment of Arabidopsis plants

Arabidopsis thaliana seeds were sown in liquid medium, vernalised for 2 nights at 4°C and then transferred to a controlled environment growth chamber with 12h photoperiod. The seedlings were treated with different chemicals as indicated in micro well plates. Double treatments were performed such as that the compound of interest was incubated 1 h before stimulus with fumonisin B1.

5.2.3 Confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM)

Detailed analysis of intracellular fluorescence war performed by confocal laser scanning microscopy using a Leica TCS SPS AOBS (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany) based Axiovert microscope equipped with an Argon ion laser as an excitation source. YFP tagged proteins were excited by a 514 nm laser line. YFP fluorescence was selectively detected by using an HFT 514 dichroic mirror and BP 535-590 band pass emission filter. Images were analyzed with Leica Lite software.

5.2.4 Biochemical methods

5.2.4.1 Isolation of total protein extract from Arabidopsis

Proteins from 1 *Arabidopsis* seedling were extracted by grinding frozen material and subsequent addition of 80 μ L protein extraction buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 10mM NaF, 25 mM _-Glycerophosphate, 2 mM Na3VO4, 10% (v/v) Glycerol, 0.1% (v/v) Tween 20, 1 mM DTT (added fresh from 100 mM stock solution), 1 mM PMSF (added fresh from 200 mM stock solution in ethanol)).

The lysate was mixed thoroughly and chilled on ice. Cell debris was spun down by centrifugation at 4°C for 1 min at 15,000 g. The supernatant was transferred to a fresh tube. Protein amounts were determined using the method of Bradford (1976) with the Bio-Rad Protein Assay (Bio-Rad Munchen, Germany) and BSA solutions between 0 and 1.6 mg/ml as internal standard.

5.2.4.2 Denaturing SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

Protein samples boiled for 5 min in Laemmli Sample Buffer (Bio-Rad, Munchen, Germany) were subjected to SDS-PAGE on a gel containing 12% polyacrylamide. The whole amount of proteins was visualized by coomassie blue R250 (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, USA).

5.2.4.3 Immunublot analysis

On a SDS-PAGE separated proteins were electroblotted onto a Hybond ECL nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham, GE Healthcare) in Towbin buffer (25 mM Tris, 195 mM Glycin, 20% (v/v) methanol). To monitor protein transfer and loading, the membrane was stained with 0.1% Ponceau S (Sigma-Aldrich) in 5% (v/v) acetic acid, followed by extensive washes in water. The membrane was blocked for at least 1 hour with milk powder in TBST (10 mM Tris, 1.5 mM NaCl, pH 7.5, 0.05% (v/v) Tween20). The α -Phospho-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (Thr202/Tyr204), Cell Signaling Technology / New England Biolabs GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany) has been used already for detection of *Arabidopsis* MPK3, MPK4 and MPK6 (Ranf et al., 2011). The α -GFP mouse monoclonal antibody (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) was used for detection of FMO1-YFP. The primary antibody

was diluted 1:5000 (α -Phospho-p44/42) or 1:2000 (α -GFP) in TBST and hybridized with the membrane over night at 4°C. After washing the membrane 3 times in TBST, the second anti-body (α -rabbit-HRP, Amersham, GE Healthcare) or goat anti-mouse IgG-HRP (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA) was hybridized (1:5000 in TBST) with the membrane. After 1 hour incubation with 3 subsequent washing steps, the secondary antibody was detected using the Pierce ECL Western Blotting Substrate (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, USA) and Kodak biomax light autoradiographic film (Sigma-Aldrich).

5.2.4.4 Salicylic acid measurement

SA measurements was obtained of leaf material (100 to 200 mg fresh weight) according to Straus et al. (2010), using a chloroform/methanol extraction and analyzed by gas chromatography coupled to a mass spectrometer (GC-MS, Agilent, Santa Clare, USA).

5.2.5 Molecular biological methods

5.2.5.1 Isolation of total RNA from Arabidopsis

Total RNA was extracted from 2 week old plant material. Liquid nitrogen frozen samples (approximately 20 mg) were homogenized using a bead shaker in 1.5 ml centrifuge tubes. Further processing was performed using the RNeasy Plant Mini Kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) and the Bio-Budget Plant RNA kit following the manufacturer's instructions. The RNA was eluted with 20 μ l RNase-free water.

5.2.5.2 cDNA synthesis

Synthesis of cDNA was performed using SuperScriptTMII Reverse Transcriptase (RT) (Invitrogen) following the suppliers instructions. Briefly, 1 μ I Oligo(dT) primers, 1 μ g RNA and 1 μ I dNTP Mix was incubated for 5 min at 65°C. 1× Reaction buffer, 10 μ M DTT and 1 μ I RT were added to the samples. The synthesis was performed over 60 min at 42°C, with heat inactivation of the enzyme for 15 min at 70°C.

5.2.5.3 Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR)

Transcript analysis in time course experiments and before microarray hybridization were performed by qRT-PCR. cDNA corresponding to 500 ng RNA from three biological replicates was diluted 1:20 before continuing the protocol. SYBR green assays were developed using iQTMSYBR®Green Supermix (Bio-Rad, Hercules, USA) with gene-specific primers and an adapted protocol. The reaction set up was adjusted to a total volume of 25 µl with 12.5 µL iQ SYBR® Green Supermix, 0.1 µl of each primer (100 µM), 2.3 µl of distilled water and 10 µl diluted cDNA template. PCR was performed on a 'iQ5 multicolor real-time PCR detection system' (Bio-Rad). Expressions were calculated using the CT method (Schmittgen and Livak, 2008). To simplify data interpretation, expression levels in DMSO treated control were fixed to 1 and relative values were calculated. The gene of an expressed protein (At4g26410) served as internal control. This was previously proposed as reference gene (Czechowski et al., 2005) and RefGenes analysis (Hruz et al., 2011) revealed this gene to be the most stable expressed gene in *A. thaliana* seedlings.

Step	Temperature	Time	Cycles
Initial denaturing	95°C	2 min	
Denaturing	95°C	20 sec	
Annealing	55°C	30 sec	– 40X
Elongation	72°C	25 sec	
Denaturing	95°C	1 min	
Melting curve	55-95°C	1 min	Gradual step-wise increase
			of temperature by 0.5°C
			per step

qRT-PCR program:

The following primers (listed as 5'-3') have been used:

- FMO1-qRT-fw: GTTCGTGGTTGTGTGTACCG

- FMO1-qRT-rw: TGTGCAAGCTTTTCCTCCTT

- EDS1-qRT-fw: CGAAGACACAGGGCCGTA
- EDS1-qRT-rw: AAGCATGATCCGCACTCG
- PAD4-qRT-fw: GGTTCTGTTCGTCTGATGTTT
- PAD4-qRT-rw: GTTCCTCGGTGTTTTGAGTT
- SAG101-qRT-fw: CATTCCTCTGCTCCGAGAAC
- SAG101-qRT-rw: CGTTTTAACGTCGGTTCGAT
- PR1-qRT-fw: TTCTTCCCTCGAAAGCTCAA
- PR1-qRT-rw: AAGGCCCACCAGAGTGTATG
- ALD1-qRT-fw: ACTTGGTGGCAGCACAAAAC
- ALD1-qRT-rw: ATCACCAGTCCCAAGGCTTATC
- ICS1-qRT-fw: TTCTGGGCTCAAACACTAAAAC
- ICS1-qRT-rw: GGCGTCTTGAAATCTCCATC
- PBS3-qRT-fw: ACACCAGCCCTGATGAAGTC
- PBS3-qRT-rw: CCCAAGTCTGTGACCCAGTT
- VSP1-qRT-fw: TCATACTCAAGCCAAACGG
- VSP1-qRT-rw: ATCCTCAACCAAATCAGC
- -PIN1-qRT-fw: ACA AAA CGA CGC AGG CTA AG
- -PIN1-qRT-rw: AGC TGG CAT TTC AAT GTT CC
- -RAB18-qRT-fw: ATCCAGCAGCAGTATGACGA
- -RAB18-qRT-rw: CCAGTTCCGTATCCTCCTCC
- Expr-qRT-fw: GAGCTGAAGTGGCTTCCATGAC
- Expr-qRT-rw: GGTCCGACATACCCATGATCC

5.2.6 Reporter assays

5.2.6.1 Quantitative GUS assay

For quantitative GUS analysis, two to four *Arabidopsis* seeds were germinated in each well of a 48-well microplate and grown in MS medium. Chemical treatment was performed at the indicated concentration and incubated for five to 24 hours as indicated. Seedling extracts were prepared and fluorimetric GUS activities relative to protein concentration were determined as described by Kienow et al. (2008). Briefly, seedlings were frozen in liquid nitrogen and homogenized in 100 µL Lysis-buffer (50 mM Na(PO4), 1 mM EDTA, 0.1% (v/v) Triton X-100, 10 mM _-mercaptoethanol (fresh), pH 7.0). Debris was spun down at 15,000 g and the supernatant was transferred to a fresh tube. To 50 µL sample were added 50 µL of MUG-substrate (2 mM 4-methylumbelliferyl-_- D-glucoronid in lysis buffer). These samples were incubated at 37°C and aliquots were taken after 0, 30 and 60 minutes. The reaction was stopped by an excess of 0.2 M Na(CO)3 and fluorescence was measured in a fluorimeter. The GUS activity was calculated in relation to a internal standard and normalized to the protein concentration. Latter was determined using the method of Bradford (1976) with the Bio-Rad Protein Assay (Bio-Rad Munchen, Germany) and BSA solutions between 0 and 1.6 mg/ml as standard.

5.2.7 Chemical screen

Chemical screens were performed using the transgenic *Arabidopsis* FMO1p::FMO1:YFP reporter line. *Arabidopsis* seedlings were grown in hydroponic culture under sterile conditions directly in 96-well microplates. Each well contained one seedling in 160 μ l ½ MS medium. 17 day old seedlings were treated for the activator screen in duplicate or triplicate with chemicals in ½ MS medium (10 μ M: Kinase inhibitor library and Prestwick library; 10-20 μ M: Hand-selected library). 10 μ M FB1 was added as a positive control, and DMSO served as a negative control. The seedlings were pre-treated with the chemicals for 1 h before adding 10 μ M FB1 for the inhibitor screen. 6 days after chemical treatment the semi quantitative fluorescence measurement assay was performed using a fluorometer. Fluorescence values were measured thrice per well and averaged for

analysis. Each screening plate had alternating positive and negative controls on the columns at the left and right edges.

5.2.8 Monitoring the oxidative burst

Oxidative burst analysis assay in *Arabidopsis* seedlings was adapted from a previously published protocol (Mersmann et. al., 2010). The assay measures active oxygen species released by seedlings by H_2O_2 dependent luminescence of luminol (Keppler et al.,1989). Briefly, *Arabidopsis thaliana* seedlings were grown in ½ MS media in 96-well microplates for 2 weeks. The seedlings were washed with 300 µL H_2O and then relaxed in 98 µl H_2O under light for 2 hours. The chemicals to be tested were added to the seedlings, immediately prior to triggering the reaction with flg22. This was performed automatically in a luminometer by injecting 100 µl of a solution containing flg22 (2 µM), luminol (400 µM) and horseradish peroxidase (0.02 mg/ml, Sigma-Aldrich, P6782). Luminescence from each single well was detected for 2 seconds and each well was measured every 2 minutes. Luminescence was measured in 31 cycles over a total period of 72 minutes. Each experiment contained 12 biological replicates.

5.2.9 Probe synthesis

Synthesis of molecular probes containing a rhodamine and an alkyne tag attached to thaxtomin A was performed by the group of Prof. Markus Kaiser (ZMB, Universiat Duisburg Essen).

References

- Aarts N, Metz M, Holub E, Staskawicz BJ, Daniels MJ, Parker JE (1998) Different requirements for EDS1 and NDR1 by disease resistance genes define at least two R gene-mediated signaling pathways in Arabidopsis. Proc Natl Acad Sci **95**: 10306–10311
- Acuna IA, Strobel GA, Jacobsen BJ, Corsini DL (2001) Glucosylation as a mechanism of resistance to thaxtomin A in potatoes. Plant Sci **161**: 77–88
- Arseneault T, Pieterse CMJ, Gérin-Ouellet M, Goyer C, Filion M (2014) Long-Term Induction of Defense Gene Expression in Potato by Pseudomonas sp. LBUM223 and Streptomyces scabies. Phytopathology **104**: 926–32
- Bartsch M, Gobbato E, Bednarek P, Debey S, Schultze JL, Bautor J, Parker JE (2006) Salicylic acid-independent ENHANCED DISEASE SUSCEPTIBILITY1 signaling in Arabidopsis immunity and cell death is regulated by the monooxygenase FMO1 and the Nudix hydrolase NUDT7. Plant Cell **18**: 1038–1051
- **Bischoff V, Cookson SJ, Wu S, Scheible W-R** (2009) Thaxtomin A affects CESA-complex density, expression of cell wall genes, cell wall composition, and causes ectopic lignification in Arabidopsis thaliana seedlings. J Exp Bot **60**: 955–65
- Brodersen P, Petersen M, Pike HM, Olszak B, Skov S, Odum N, Jørgensen LB, Brown RE, Mundy J (2002) Knockout of Arabidopsis accelerated-cell-death11 encoding a sphingosine transfer protein causes activation of programmed cell death and defense. Genes Dev 16: 490–502
- Cano-Delgado A, Penfield S, Smith C, Catley M, Bevan M (2003) Reduced cellulose synthesis invokes lignification and defense responses in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant J **34**: 351–362
- Cashman JR (2002) Human and plant flavin-containing monooxygenase N-oxygenation of amines: detoxication vs. bioactivation. Drug Metab Rev **34**: 513–21
- Chaturvedi R, Venables B, Petros RA, Nalam V, Li M, Wang X, Takemoto LJ, Shah J (2012) An abietane diterpenoid is a potent activator of systemic acquired resistance. Plant J **71**: 161–72
- Chen Y, Patel N a, Crombie A, Scrivens JH, Murrell JC (2011) Bacterial flavin-containing monooxygenase is trimethylamine monooxygenase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **108**: 17791–6
- Chisholm ST, Coaker G, Day B, Staskawicz BJ (2006) Host-microbe interactions: shaping the evolution of the plant immune response. Cell **124**: 803–14
- Collier SM, Moffett P (2009) NB-LRRs work a "bait and switch" on pathogens. Trends Plant Sci 14: 521–9

Conrath U (2011) Molecular aspects of defence priming. Trends Plant Sci 16: 524-31

- **Cottier S, Mönig T, Wang Z, Svoboda J, Boland W, Kaiser M, Kombrink E** (2011) The yeast threehybrid system as an experimental platform to identify proteins interacting with small signaling molecules in plant cells: potential and limitations. Front Plant Sci **2**: 101
- Czechowski T, Stitt M, Altmann T, Udvardi MK, Scheible W-R (2005) Genome-wide identification and testing of superior reference genes for transcript normalization in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol **139**: 5–17
- Dai X, Mashiguchi K, Chen Q, Kasahara H, Kamiya Y, Ojha S, DuBois J, Ballou D, Zhao Y (2013) The biochemical mechanism of auxin biosynthesis by an arabidopsis YUCCA flavincontaining monooxygenase. J Biol Chem 288: 1448–57
- Dangl JL, Horvath DM, Staskawicz BJ (2013) Pivoting the plant immune system from dissection to deployment. Science 341: 746–51
- **Dejonghe W, Russinova E** (2014) Target identification strategies in plant chemical biology. Front Plant Sci **5**: 352
- **Dempsey DA, Klessig DF** (2012) SOS too many signals for systemic acquired resistance? Trends Plant Sci **17**: 538–545
- Dempsey DA, Vlot a C, Wildermuth MC, Klessig DF (2011) Salicylic Acid biosynthesis and metabolism. Arabidopsis Book 9: e0156
- Deslandes L, Rivas S (2012) Catch me if you can: bacterial effectors and plant targets. Trends Plant Sci 17: 644–55
- Desprez T, Vernhettes S, Fagard M, Refrégier G, Desnos T, Aletti E, Py N, Pelletier S, Höfte H (2002) Resistance against herbicide isoxaben and cellulose deficiency caused by distinct mutations in same cellulose synthase isoform CESA6. Plant Physiol **128**: 482–90
- Dietrich RA, Richberg MH, Schmidt R, Dean C, Dangl JL (1997) A novel zinc finger protein is encoded by the Arabidopsis LSD1 gene and functions as a negative regulator of plant cell death. Cell 88: 685–94

Durrant WE, Dong X (2004) Systemic acquired resistance. Annu Rev Phytopathol 42: 185–209

- Duval I, Beaudoin N (2009) Transcriptional profiling in response to inhibition of cellulose synthesis by thaxtomin A and isoxaben in Arabidopsis thaliana suspension cells. Plant Cell Rep 28: 811–30
- **Duval I, Brochu V, Simard M, Beaulieu C, Beaudoin N** (2005) Thaxtomin A induces programmed cell death in Arabidopsis thaliana suspension-cultured cells. Planta **222**: 820–31
- Errakhi R, Dauphin a, Meimoun P, Lehner a, Reboutier D, Vatsa P, Briand J, Madiona K, Rona JP, Barakate M, et al (2008) An early Ca2+ influx is a prerequisite to thaxtomin A-induced cell death in Arabidopsis thaliana cells. J Exp Bot **59**: 4259–70
- **Expósito-Rodríguez M, Borges AA, Borges-Pérez A, Pérez JA** (2011) Gene structure and spatiotemporal expression profile of tomato genes encoding YUCCA-like flavin monooxygenases: the ToFZY gene family. Plant Physiol Biochem **49**: 782–91

- Feys B, Wiermer M, Bhat R, Moisan L, Medina-Escobar N, Neu C, Cabral A, Parker J (2005) Arabidopsis SENESCENCE-ASSOCIATED GENE101 stabilizes and signals within an ENHANCED DISEASE SUSCEPTIBILITY1 complex in plant innate immunity. Plant Cell **17**: 2601–13
- Feys BJ, Moisan LJ, Newman M a, Parker JE (2001) Direct interaction between the Arabidopsis disease resistance signaling proteins, EDS1 and PAD4. EMBO J 20: 5400–11
- Flor HH (1971) Current Status of the Gene-For-Gene Concept. Annu Rev Phytopathol 9: 275–296
- Gangadhar NM, Stockwell BR (2007) Chemical genetic approaches to probing cell death. Curr Opin Chem Biol 11: 83–7
- **Glazebrook J** (2005) Contrasting mechanisms of defense against biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens. Annu Rev Phytopathol **43**: 205–27
- **Glazebrook J, Rogers EE, Ausubel FM** (1996) Isolation of Arabidopsis mutants with enhanced disease susceptibility by direct screening. Genetics **143**: 973–82
- **Gollnick K, Franken T, Fouda MFR, Paur HR, Held S** (1992) Merbromin (mercurochrome) and other xanthene dyes: Quantum yields of triplet sensitizer generation and singlet oxygen formation in alcoholic solutions. J Photochem Photobiol B Biol **12**: 57–81
- **Gómez-Gómez L, Boller T** (2002) Flagellin perception: a paradigm for innate immunity. Trends Plant Sci **7**: 251–6
- Gores GJ, Nieminen a L, Fleishman KE, Dawson TL, Herman B, Lemasters JJ (1988) Extracellular acidosis delays onset of cell death in ATP-depleted hepatocytes. Am J Physiol 255: C315–22
- **Goyer C, Vachon J, Beaulieu C** (1998) Pathogenicity of Streptomyces scabies Mutants Altered in Thaxtomin A Production. Phytopathology **88**: 442–5
- Gruner K, Griebel T, Návarová H, Attaran E, Zeier J (2013) Reprogramming of plants during systemic acquired resistance. Front Plant Sci 4: 252
- Guan D, Grau BL, Clark CA, Taylor CM, Loria R, Pettis GS (2012) Evidence That Thaxtomin C Is a Pathogenicity Determinant of Streptomyces ipomoeae, the Causative Agent of Streptomyces Soil Rot Disease of Sweet Potato. 25: 393–401
- Hernández-Blanco C, Feng DX, Hu J, Sánchez-Vallet A, Deslandes L, Llorente F, Berrocal-Lobo M, Keller H, Barlet X, Sánchez-Rodríguez C, et al (2007) Impairment of cellulose synthases required for Arabidopsis secondary cell wall formation enhances disease resistance. Plant Cell 19: 890–903
- Hicks GR, Raikhel N V (2012) Small molecules present large opportunities in plant biology. Annu Rev Plant Biol 63: 261–82
- Hinsch M, Staskawicz B (1996) Identification of a new Arabidopsis disease resistance locus, RPs4, and cloning of the corresponding avirulence gene, avrRps4, from Pseudomonas syringae pv. pisi. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 9: 55–61

- Van der Hoorn RAL, Kamoun S (2008) From Guard to Decoy: a new model for perception of plant pathogen effectors. Plant Cell **20**: 2009–17
- Hruz T, Wyss M, Docquier M, Pfaffl MW, Masanetz S, Borghi L, Verbrugghe P, Kalaydjieva L, Bleuler S, Laule O, et al (2011) RefGenes: identification of reliable and condition specific reference genes for RT-qPCR data normalization. BMC Genomics **12**: 156
- Huang J, Zhu H, Haggarty SJ, Spring DR, Hwang H, Jin F, Snyder M, Schreiber SL (2004) Finding new components of the target of rapamycin (TOR) signaling network through chemical genetics and proteome chips. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **101**: 16594–9
- Jabs T, Tschope M, Colling C, Hahlbrock K, Scheel D (1997) Elicitor-stimulated ion fluxes and O2from the oxidative burst are essential components in triggering defense gene activation and phytoalexin synthesis in parsley. Proc Natl Acad Sci **94**: 4800–4805
- Jirage D, Tootle TL, Reuber TL, Frost LN, Feys BJ, Parker JE, Ausubel FM, Glazebrook J (1999) Arabidopsis thaliana PAD4 encodes a lipase-like gene that is important for salicylic acid signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **96**: 13583–8
- Jones JDG, Dangl JL (2006) The plant immune system. Nature 444: 323-329
- Jung HW, Tschaplinski TJ, Wang L, Glazebrook J, Greenberg JT (2009) Priming in systemic plant immunity. Science 324: 89–91
- **Katagiri F, Tsuda K** (2010) Understanding the plant immune system. Mol Plant Microbe Interact **23**: 1531–6
- King R, Lawrence C., Calhoun L. (1992) Chemistry of phytotoxins associated with Streptomyces scabies the causal organism of potato common scab. J Agric Food Chem **40**: 834–837
- King R, Lawrence C., Clark C, Calhounb L. (1989) Isolation and Characterization of Phytotoxins Associated with Streptomyces scabies. **849**: 849–850
- **King RR, Lawrence CH, Calhoun L a** (2000) Microbial glucosylation of thaxtomin A, a partial detoxification. J Agric Food Chem **48**: 512–4
- King RR, Lawrence CH, Calhoun LA, Ristaino JB (1994) Isolation and Characterization of Thaxtomin-Type Phytotoxins Associated with Streptomyces ipomoeae. J Agric Food Chem 42: 1791–1794
- **King RR, Lawrence CH, Clark MC, Calhoun LA** (1991) Correlation of phytotoxin production with pathogenicity of Streptomyces scabies isolates from scab infected potato tubers. Am Potato J **68**: 675–680
- Kinkel LL, Bowers JH, Shimizu K, Neeno-Eckwall EC, Schottel JL (1998) Quantitative relationships among thaxtomin A production, potato scab severity, and fatty acid composition in Streptomyces. Can J Microbiol 44: 768–76
- Koch M, Vorwerk S, Masur C, Sharifi-Sirchi G, Olivieri N, Schlaich NL (2006) A role for a flavincontaining mono-oxygenase in resistance against microbial pathogens in Arabidopsis. Plant J 47: 629–639

Koornneef A, Pieterse CMJ (2008) Cross talk in defense signaling. Plant Physiol 146: 839-44

- Krueger SK, Williams DE (2005) Mammalian flavin-containing monooxygenases: structure/function, genetic polymorphisms and role in drug metabolism. Pharmacol Ther 106: 357–87
- Kubo A, Itoh S, Itoh K, Kamataki T (1997) Determination of FAD-binding domain in flavincontaining monooxygenase 1 (FMO1). Arch Biochem Biophys **345**: 271–7
- Lambert DH, Loria R (1989) Streptomyces scabies sp. nov., nom. rev. Int J Syst Bacteriol **39**: 387–392
- Lawrence CH, Clark MC, King R (1990) Induction of common scab symptoms in aseptically cultured potato tubers by the vivotoxin, thaxtomin. Phytopathology **80**: 606–608
- Lawton MP, Cashman JR, Cresteil T, Dolphin CT, Elfarra AA, Hines RN, Hodgson E, Kimura T, Ozols J, Phillips IR, et al (1994) A nomenclature for the mammalian Flavin-containing Monooxygenase gene family based on amino acid sequence identitites. Biochem Biophys 308: 254–257
- Liu H, Ying Y-Y, Zhang L, Gao Q-H, Li J, Zhang Z, Fang J-G, Duan K (2012) Isolation and characterization of two YUCCA flavin monooxygenase genes from cultivated strawberry (Fragaria × ananassa Duch.). Plant Cell Rep **31**: 1425–35
- Loria R, Bukhalid RA, Creath RA, Leiner RH, Olivier M, Steffens JC (1995) Differential production of thaxtomins by pathogenic Streptomyces species in vitro. Phytopathology **85**: 537–541
- Loria R, Bukhalid RA, Fry BA (1997) Plant pathogenicity in the genus Streptomyces. Plant Dis 81: 836–846
- Loria R, Kers J, Joshi M (2006) Evolution of plant pathogenicity in Streptomyces. Annu Rev Phytopathol 44: 469–87
- Louis J, Gobbato E, Mondal HA, Feys BJ, Parker JE, Shah J (2012) Discrimination of Arabidopsis PAD4 activities in defense against green peach aphid and pathogens. Plant Physiol **158**: 1860–72
- Lüttge U, Läuchli A, Ball E, Pitman MG (1974) Cycloheximide: A specific inhibitor of protein synthesis and intercellular ion transport in plant roots. Experientia **30**: 470–471
- Maekawa T, Kufer TA, Schulze-Lefert P (2011) NLR functions in plant and animal immune systems: so far and yet so close. Nat Immunol **12**: 817–26
- Malamy J, Carr JP, Klessig DF, Raskin I (1990) Salicylic Acid: a likely endogenous signal in the resistance response of tobacco to viral infection. Science **250**: 1002–4
- Malo N, Hanley J a, Cerquozzi S, Pelletier J, Nadon R (2006) Statistical practice in highthroughput screening data analysis. Nat Biotechnol **24**: 167–175
- Martínez G, Bertolotti SG, Zimerman OE, Mártire DO, Braslavsky SE, García NA (1993) A kinetic study of the photodynamic properties of the xanthene dye merbromin (mercurochrome)

and its aggregates with amino acids in aqueous solutions. J Photochem Photobiol B Biol **17**: 247–255

- Massillon D, Stalmans W, van de Werve G, Bollen M (1994) Identification of the glycogenic compound 5-iodotubercidin as a general protein kinase inhibitor. Biochem J **299**: 123–128
- Mayer TU (2003) Chemical genetics: tailoring tools for cell biology. Trends Cell Biol 13: 270–7
- McCourt P, Desveaux D (2010) Plant chemical genetics. New Phytol 185: 15-26
- McIntosh AH, Bateman GL, Chamberlain K (1988) Substituted benzoic and picolinic acids as foliar sprays against potato common scab. Ann Appl Biol **112**: 397–401
- McIntosh AH, Burrell MM, Hawkins JH (1982) Field trials of foliar sprays of 3,5dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (3,5-D) against common scab on potatoes. Potato Res 25: 347– 350
- McIntosh AH, Chamberlain K, Dawson GW (1985) Foliar sprays against potato common scab: compounds related to 3,5-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid. Crop Prot **4**: 473–480
- Meesters C, Mönig T, Oeljeklaus J, Krahn D, Westfall CS, Hause B, Jez JM, Kaiser M, Kombrink E (2014) A chemical inhibitor of jasmonate signaling targets JAR1 in Arabidopsis thaliana. Nat Chem Biol **10**: 830–836
- Meggio F, Deana AD, Ruzzene M, Brunati AM, Cesaro L, Guerra B, Meyer T, Mett H, Fabbro D, Furet P, et al (1995) Different Susceptibility of Protein Kinases to Staurosporine Inhibition. Kinetic Studies and Molecular Bases for the Resistance of Protein Kinase CK2. Eur J Biochem 234: 317–322
- Métraux JP, Signer H, Ryals J, Ward E, Wyss-Benz M, Gaudin J, Raschdorf K, Schmid E, Blum W, Inverardi B (1990) Increase in salicylic Acid at the onset of systemic acquired resistance in cucumber. Science 250: 1004–6
- Meyers B, Kozik A, Griego A, Kuang H, Michelmore R (2003) Genome-Wide Analysis of NBS-LRR-Encoding Genes in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell **15**: 809–834
- Mishina TE, Zeier J (2006) The Arabidopsis flavin-dependent monooxygenase FMO1 is an essential component of biologically induced systemic acquired resistance. Plant Physiol 141: 1666–1675
- Miya A, Albert P, Shinya T, Desaki Y, Ichimura K, Shirasu K, Narusaka Y, Kawakami N, Kaku H, Shibuya N (2007) CERK1, a LysM receptor kinase, is essential for chitin elicitor signaling in Arabidopsis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **104**: 19613–8
- Mollenhauer HH, Morré DJ, Bracker CE (1988) Swelling of golgi apparatus cisternae in monensin-treated tissues is modulated by fixation conditions. Protoplasma **145**: 66–69
- Mollenhauer HH, Morre DJ, Droleskey RE (1986) Monensin Inhibition of Growth of Ryegrass Seedlings. Bot Gaz 147: 432–436

- Moore I, Samalova M, Kurup S (2006) Transactivated and chemically inducible gene expression in plants. Plant J 45: 651–83
- Morré DJ, Boss WF, Grimes H, Mollenhauer HH (1983) Kinetics of Golgi apparatus membrane flux following monensin treatment of embryogenic carrot cells. Eur J Cell Biol **30**: 25–32
- Mou Z, Fan W, Dong X (2003) Inducers of plant systemic acquired resistance regulate NPR1 function through redox changes. Cell **113**: 935–44
- Navarova H, Bernsdorff F, Doring a C, Zeier J (2012) Pipecolic acid, an endogenous mediator of defense amplification and priming, is a critical regulator of inducible plant immunity. Plant Cell 24: 5123–5141
- Návarová H, Bernsdorff F, Döring A-C, Zeier J (2012) Pipecolic acid, an endogenous mediator of defense amplification and priming, is a critical regulator of inducible plant immunity. Plant Cell 24: 5123–41
- Nürnberger T, Lipka V (2005) Non-host resistance in plants: new insights into an old phenomenon. Mol Plant Pathol 6: 335–45
- Olszak B, Malinovsky FG, Brodersen P, Grell M, Giese H, Petersen M, Mundy J (2006) A putative flavin-containing mono-oxygenase as a marker for certain defense and cell death pathways. Plant Sci **170**: 614–623
- Park S-Y, Fung P, Nishimura N, Jensen DR, Fujii H, Zhao Y, Lumba S, Santiago J, Rodrigues A, Chow T-FF, et al (2009) Abscisic acid inhibits type 2C protein phosphatases via the PYR/PYL family of START proteins. Science **324**: 1068–71
- Parker JE, Holub EB, Frost LN, Falk A, Gunn ND, Daniels MJ (1996) Characterization of eds1, a mutation in Arabidopsis suppressing resistance to Peronospora parasitica specified by several different RPP genes. Plant Cell 8: 2033–2046
- Peek J, Shi T, Christendat D (2014) Identification of Novel Polyphenolic Inhibitors of Shikimate Dehydrogenase (AroE). J Biomol Screen 19: 1090–1098
- Pegadaraju V, Louis J, Singh V, Reese JC, Bautor J, Feys BJ, Cook G, Parker JE, Shah J (2007) Phloem-based resistance to green peach aphid is controlled by Arabidopsis PHYTOALEXIN DEFICIENT4 without its signaling partner ENHANCED DISEASE SUSCEPTIBILITY1. Plant J 52: 332–41
- Peng M, Kuc J (1992) Peroxidase-generated hydrogen peroxide as a source of antifungal activity in vitro and on tobacco leaf disks. Phytopathology 82: 696–699
- Pressman BC, Fahim M (1982) Pharmacology and toxicology of the monovalent carboxylic ionophores. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 22: 465–90
- Puerner NJ, Siegel SM (1972) The Effects of Mercury Compounds on the Growth and Orientation of Cucumber Seedlings. Physiol Plant 26: 310–312
- Rauckman EJ, Rosen GM, Kitchell BB (1979) Superoxide radical as an intermediate in the oxidation of hydroxylamines by mixed function amine oxidase. Mol Pharmacol 15: 131–7

- **Rescigno M, Perham RN** (1994) Structure of the NADPH-Binding Motif of Glutathione Reductase: Efficiency Determined by Evolution. Biochemistry **33**: 5721–5727
- Rietz S, Stamm A, Malonek S, Wagner S, Becker D, Medina-escobar N, Vlot AC, Feys BJ, Niefind K, Parker JE (2011) Different roles of Enhanced Disease Susceptibility1 (EDS1) bound to and dissociated from Phytoalexin Deficient4 (PAD4) in Arabidopsis immunity. New Phytol 191: 107–119
- Rojas-Pierce M, Titapiwatanakun B, Sohn EJ, Fang F, Larive CK, Blakeslee J, Cheng Y, Cutler SR, Cuttler S, Peer WA, et al (2007) Arabidopsis P-glycoprotein19 participates in the inhibition of gravitropism by gravacin. Chem Biol **14**: 1366–76
- **Rustérucci C, Aviv DH, Holt BF, Dangl JL, Parker JE** (2001) The disease resistance signaling components EDS1 and PAD4 are essential regulators of the cell death pathway controlled by LSD1 in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell **13**: 2211–2224
- Ryals JA, Neuenschwander UH, Willits MG, Molina A, Steiner HY, Hunt MD (1996) Systemic Acquired Resistance. Plant Cell 8: 1809–1819
- De Rybel B, Audenaert D, Vert G, Rozhon W, Mayerhofer J, Peelman F, Coutuer S, Denayer T, Jansen L, Nguyen L, et al (2009) Chemical inhibition of a subset of Arabidopsis thaliana GSK3-like kinases activates brassinosteroid signaling. Chem Biol **16**: 594–604
- Scheible W-R, Fry B, Kochevenko A, Schindelasch D, Zimmerli L, Somerville S, Loria R, Somerville CR (2003) An Arabidopsis mutant resistant to thaxtomin A, a cellulose synthesis inhibitor from Streptomyces species. Plant Cell 15: 1781–1794
- Schena M, Lloyd a M, Davis RW (1991) A steroid-inducible gene expression system for plant cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88: 10421–5
- Schlaich NL (2007) Flavin-containing monooxygenases in plants: looking beyond detox. Trends Plant Sci 12: 412–418
- Schmittgen TD, Livak KJ (2008) Analyzing real-time PCR data by the comparative CT method. Nat Protoc **3**: 1101–1108
- Schreiber SL (1998) Chemical genetics resulting from a passion for synthetic organic chemistry. Bioorg Med Chem 6: 1127–52
- Shah J (2009) Plants under attack: systemic signals in defence. Curr Opin Plant Biol 12: 459-64
- Shah J, Zeier J (2013) Long-distance communication and signal amplification in systemic acquired resistance. Front Plant Sci 4: 30
- Shi H, Shen Q, Qi Y, Yan H, Nie H, Chen Y, Zhao T, Katagiri F, Tang D (2013) BR-SIGNALING KINASE1 physically associates with FLAGELLIN SENSING2 and regulates plant innate immunity in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 25: 1143–57
- Smukste I, Stockwell BR (2005) Advances in chemical genetics. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet 6: 261–86

- Speers AE, Adam GC, Cravatt BF (2003) Activity-based protein profiling in vivo using a copper(i)catalyzed azide-alkyne [3 + 2] cycloaddition. J Am Chem Soc **125**: 4686–7
- Spoel SH, Dong X (2012) How do plants achieve immunity? Defence without specialized immune cells. Nat Rev Immunol 12: 89–100
- Spoel SH, Koornneef A, Claessens SMC, Korzelius JP, Van Pelt J a, Mueller MJ, Buchala AJ, Métraux J-P, Brown R, Kazan K, et al (2003) NPR1 modulates cross-talk between salicylateand jasmonate-dependent defense pathways through a novel function in the cytosol. Plant Cell 15: 760–70
- Stockwell BR (2000) Chemical genetics: ligand-based discovery of gene function. Nat Rev Genet
 1: 116–25
- Stone JM, Heard JE, Asai T, Ausubel FM (2000) Simulation of fungal-mediated cell death by fumonisin B1 and selection of fumonisin B1-resistant (fbr) Arabidopsis mutants. Plant Cell 12: 1811–1822
- Stuart LM, Paquette N, Boyer L (2013) Effector-triggered versus pattern-triggered immunity: how animals sense pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol **13**: 199–206
- Suh JK, Poulsen LL, Ziegler DM, Robertus JD (1996) Molecular cloning and kinetic characterization of a flavin-containing monooxygenase from Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Arch Biochem Biophys 336: 268–74
- Tegg RS, Gill WM, Thompson HK (2008) Auxin-Induced Resistance to Common Scab Disease of Potato Linked to Inhibition of Thaxtomin A Toxicity. Plant Dis 92: 1321–1328
- **Thompson HK, Tegg RS, Corkrey R, Wilson CR** (2014) Optimal rates of 2,4-dichlophenoxyacetic acid foliar application for control of common scab in potato. Ann Appl Biol **165**: 293–302
- **Tobeña-Santamaria R, Bliek M, Ljung K, Sandberg G, Mol JNM, Souer E, Koes R** (2002) FLOOZY of petunia is a flavin mono-oxygenase-like protein required for the specification of leaf and flower architecture. Genes Dev **16**: 753–63
- Tóth R, van der Hoorn R a L (2010) Emerging principles in plant chemical genetics. Trends Plant Sci 15: 81–8
- Tsuda K, Mine A, Bethke G, Igarashi D, Botanga CJ, Tsuda Y, Glazebrook J, Sato M, Katagiri F (2013) Dual regulation of gene expression mediated by extended MAPK activation and salicylic acid contributes to robust innate immunity in Arabidopsis thaliana. PLoS Genet 9: e1004015
- Tsuda K, Sato M, Stoddard T, Glazebrook J, Katagiri F (2009) Network properties of robust immunity in plants. PLoS Genet 5: e1000772
- Tynes RE, Sabourin PJ, Hodgson E, Philpot RM (1986) Formation of hydrogen peroxide and Nhydroxylated amines catalyzed by pulmonary flavin-containing monooxygenases in the presence of primary alkylamines. Arch Biochem Biophys **251**: 654–64

- Vlot AC, Dempsey DA, Klessig DF (2009) Salicylic Acid, a multifaceted hormone to combat disease. Annu Rev Phytopathol 47: 177–206
- Wagner S, Stuttmann J, Rietz S, Guerois R, Brunstein E, Bautor J, Niefind K, Parker JE (2013) Structural basis for signaling by exclusive EDS1 heteromeric complexes with SAG101 or PAD4 in plant innate immunity. Cell Host Microbe **14**: 619–30
- Wang D, Pajerowska-Mukhtar K, Culler AH, Dong X (2007) Salicylic acid inhibits pathogen growth in plants through repression of the auxin signaling pathway. Curr Biol **17**: 1784–90
- Westley JW (1982) Polyether Antibiotics: Naturally Occurring Acid Ionophores. Vol. 1: Biology. Marcel Dekker
- Wiermer M, Feys BJ, Parker JE (2005) Plant immunity: the EDS1 regulatory node. Curr Opin Plant Biol 8: 383–9
- Wildermuth MC, Dewdney J, Wu G, Ausubel FM (2001) Isochorismate synthase is required to synthesize salicylic acid for plant defence. Nature **414**: 562–5
- Winter D, Vinegar B, Nahal H, Ammar R, Wilson G V, Provart NJ (2007) An "Electronic Fluorescent Pictograph" browser for exploring and analyzing large-scale biological data sets. PLoS One 2: e718
- Wirthmueller L, Zhang Y, Jones JDG, Parker JE (2007) Nuclear accumulation of the Arabidopsis immune receptor RPS4 is necessary for triggering EDS1-dependent defense. Curr Biol **17**: 2023–9
- Yi J, Liu L, Cao Y, Li J, Mei M (2013) Cloning, characterization and expression of OsFMO(t) in rice encoding a flavin monooxygenase. J Genet **92**: 471–80
- Young B, Wightman R, Blanvillain R, Purcel SB, Gallois P (2010) pH-sensitivity of YFP provides an intracellular indicator of programmed cell death. Plant Methods 6: 27
- Zhang G, Driouich A, Staehelin L (1993) Effect of monensin on plant Golgi: re-examination of the monensin-induced changes in cisternal architecture and functional activities of the Golgi apparatus of sycamore suspension-cultured cells. J Cell Sci 104: 819–831
- Zhang Y, Goritschnig S, Dong X, Li X (2003) A gain-of-function mutation in a plant disease resistance gene leads to constitutive activation of downstream signal transduction pathways in suppressor of npr1-1, constitutive 1. Plant Cell **15**: 2636–46
- Zhang Y, Li Y, Ding J, Xu M, Li S, Xu S, Jing B (2011) Brush and Spray: A High-Throughput Systemic Acquired Resistance Assay Suitable for Large-Scale Genetic Screening. Plant Physiol 157: 973–980
- **Zhao Y, Christensen SK, Fankhauser C, Cashman JR, Cohen JD, Weigel D, Chory J** (2001) A role for flavin monooxygenase-like enzymes in auxin biosynthesis. Science **291**: 306–9
- Zheng XS, Chan T-F, Zhou HH (2004) Genetic and genomic approaches to identify and study the targets of bioactive small molecules. Chem Biol **11**: 609–18

- **Zhou N, Tootle TL, Tsui F, Klessig DF, Glazebrook J** (1998) PAD4 functions upstream from salicylic acid to control defense responses in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell **10**: 1021–30
- **Zipfel C, Kunze G, Chinchilla D, Caniard A, Jones JDG, Boller T, Felix G** (2006) Perception of the bacterial PAMP EF-Tu by the receptor EFR restricts Agrobacterium-mediated transformation. Cell **125**: 749–60
- Zipfel C, Robatzek S, Navarro L, Oakeley EJ, Jones JDG, Felix G, Boller T (2004) Bacterial disease resistance in Arabidopsis through flagellin perception. Nature **428**: 764–7

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Erich Kombrink for giving me the opportunity to work on such an exciting project. Many thanks for always being there with an open door, ready to help and motivate, and for correcting my thesis on such short notice. I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Jane Parker for agreeing to be my co-supervisor and for evaluating this thesis. Furthermore, I want to thank Prof. Dr. Paul Schulze-Lefert for the possibility to work in his department at the MPIPZ. I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Renier van der Hoorn for agreeing to be a part my of thesis committee, and for his encouragement over the years. I also want to thank Prof. Dr. Ulf-Ingo Flügge and Prof. Dr. Marcel Bucher for participating in my thesis committee.

I would like to wholeheartedly thank all members, present and past of the Kombrink group: Markus, Jens, Christian, Vivek and Mohammed for creating a great working atmosphere. Christian, thanks for always being there to patiently answer my questions every single time I turned around with a "Christian,". Markus, thank you for your help with the microscopy. Special thanks to Brigitte, our lab mother, for everything!! This project would not have been possible without your cheerful help and support in the lab.

Many thanks to Jaqueline and all members of the JP group for being so friendly and making me feel like a part of the group, and also for willingly sharing their resources and expertise. Special thanks to Thomas and Dimitry for reading this thesis and providing constructive criticism. Deepak, thanks for all the *EDS1* discussions over coffee, and for being such a good bouncing board for all my ideas. Anne, my library cell-mate, writing this thesis wouldn't have been as much fun (?!) without having you in the same boat. Thanks for sharing the angst over so many cups of tea! A big thank you to Caro for translating my summary at the last moment! I am thankful to Elia Stahl and Prof. Jürgen Zeier for their help with amino acid extraction and analysis, and for providing *ald1* mutant seeds.

Thank you to all my colleagues in Building A, and in the PSL department for sharing such great camaraderie. It's rare to find so many friendly and helpful people in one place!

I feel lucky to be blessed with the most wonderful parents and family. I wouldn't have been able to follow my dreams without their constant support and confidence. I am truly grateful to have them all in my life.
Erklärung

Ich versichere, dass ich die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation selbständig angefertigt, die benutzten Quellen und Hilfsmittel vollständig angegeben und die Stellen der Arbeit – einschließlich Tabellen, Karten und Abbildungen –, die anderen Werken im Wortlaut oder dem Sinn nach entnommen sind, in jedem Einzelfall als Entlehnung kenntlich gemacht habe; dass diese Dissertation noch keiner anderen Fakultät oder Universität zur Prüfung vorgelegen hat; noch nicht veröffentlicht worden ist sowie, dass ich eine solche Veröffentlichung vor Abschluss des Promotionsverfahrens nicht vornehmen werde. Die Bestimmungen dieser Promotionsordnung sind mir bekannt. Die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation ist von Prof. Dr. Paul Schulze-Lefert betreut worden.

Köln, 26. Oktober 2015 _____

Shachi Joglekar

Curriculum Vitae

Shachi Joglekar

Angaben zur Person:	
geboren am:	05.06.1988 in Mumbai, Indien
Familienstand:	ledig
Nationalität:	Indien
Schulbildung:	
06/1994 - 05/2004	Parle Tilak Vidyalaya english medium school, Mumbai (SSC)
06/2004 - 05/2006	Sathaye College, Mumbai (HSC)
Studium:	
06/2006 - 06/2009	Kishinchand Chellaram College, University of Mumbai
	Bachelor of Science in Life Sciences and Biochemistry

10/2009 - 10/2011	Rheinische Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn
	Master of Science in Plant Sciences
Seit 11/2011	Max Planck Institut für Pflanzenzüchtungsforschung, Köln
	Promotion zum Thema 'Dissection of EDS1-dependent and
	salicylic acid-independent defence signalling pathways in
	Arabidopsis thaliana: a chemical biology approach' unter
	Betreuung von Prof. Dr. Jane E. Parker in der Gruppe von Dr.
	Erich Kombrink

Köln, Oktober 2015

Supplementary data



Supplementary figure 1: Effect of thaxtomin A treatment, with or without 2,4-D, on FMO1 expression. 13 day old *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 seedlings were treated with 1% DMSO+1% ethanol and 100nM thaxtomin A+ 1% ethanol, 100nM 2,4-D or 200nM 2,4-D for 24h. *FMO1* expression in treated seedlings, relative to that in DMSO and ethanol (mock) treated seedlings is depicted as an average of 3 biological replicates ± standard deviation. Asterisks indicate significant differences compared to the mock treated thaxtomin A sample (Student's t-test **p<0.01).